

# Exploring SASS Viyas Visual Analytics, Statistics,

and Investigations



The correct bibliographic citation for this manual is as follows: SAS Institute Inc. 2019. *Exploring SAS® Viya®: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations*. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.

#### Exploring SAS® Viya®: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations

Copyright © 2019, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA

978-1-64295-490-6 (Paperback) 978-1-64295-453-1 (Web PDF)

All Rights Reserved. Produced in the United States of America.

For a hard-copy book: No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the publisher, SAS Institute Inc.

For a web download or e-book: Your use of this publication shall be governed by the terms established by the vendor at the time you acquire this publication.

The scanning, uploading, and distribution of this book via the Internet or any other means without the permission of the publisher is illegal and punishable by law. Please purchase only authorized electronic editions and do not participate in or encourage electronic piracy of copyrighted materials. Your support of others' rights is appreciated.

**U.S. Government License Rights; Restricted Rights:** The Software and its documentation is commercial computer software developed at private expense and is provided with RESTRICTED RIGHTS to the United States Government. Use, duplication, or disclosure of the Software by the United States Government is subject to the license terms of this Agreement pursuant to, as applicable, FAR 12.212, DFAR 227.7202-1(a), DFAR 227.7202-3(a), and DFAR 227.7202-4, and, to the extent required under U.S. federal law, the minimum restricted rights as set out in FAR 52.227-19 (DEC 2007). If FAR 52.227-19 is applicable, this provision serves as notice under clause (c) thereof and no other notice is required to be affixed to the Software or documentation. The Government's rights in Software and documentation shall be only those set forth in this Agreement.

SAS Institute Inc., SAS Campus Drive, Cary, NC 27513-2414

June 2019

SAS<sup>®</sup> and all other SAS Institute Inc. product or service names are registered trademarks or trademarks of SAS Institute Inc. in the USA and other countries. ® indicates USA registration.

Other brand and product names are trademarks of their respective companies.

SAS software may be provided with certain third-party software, including but not limited to open-source software, which is licensed under its applicable third-party software license agreement. For license information about third-party software distributed with SAS software, refer to <u>http://support.sas.com/thirdpartylicenses</u>.

# Contents

Chapter 1: Viewing and Creating Reports in SAS Visual Analytics	1
Customizing Your SAS Home Page	
Using SAS Report Viewer	7
Creating a Basic Report	
Creating an Advanced Report with a Forecast	21
Modifying Reports	
Resources	
Chapter 2: SAS Visual Statistics	43
Introduction	43
Getting Started with SAS Visual Statistics	
Clustering Model	45
Decision Tree Model	
Logistic Regression Model	
Resources	59
Chapter 3: SAS Visual Text Analytics	61
Introduction	61
Batch Score a Topic Model	61
Create Custom Concepts	67
Explore Category Output Data Interactively	71
Resources	79
Chapter 4: SAS Visual Investigator	81
Introduction	
Searches	
Alert Triage Process	94
Workflow Process	
Export to Microsoft Excel	
Structured Printing	
Audit Reports for Administrators	
Resources	

# Free SAS<sup>®</sup> Viya<sup>®</sup> e-Books: Fundamentals

This series is based on content from SAS® Viya® Enablement, a free course available from SAS Education. You can follow along with the examples in real time by watching the videos if you prefer. Topics covered illustrate the features and capabilities of SAS Viya. SAS Viya extends the SAS platform to enable everyone – data scientists, business analysts, developers, and executives alike – to collaborate and realize innovative results faster.



support.sas.com/freesasebooks





SAS and all other SAS Institute Inc. product or service names are registered trademarks or trademarks of SAS Institute Inc. in the USA and other countries. \* indicates USA registration. Other brand and product names are trademarks of their respective companies. © 2019 SAS Institute Inc. All rights reserved. MI913158 US.0419

# **About This Book**

## What Does This Book Cover?

*Data visualization* is the presentation of data in a pictorial or graphical format. It enables decision makers to see analytics presented visually so that they can grasp difficult concepts or identify new patterns. With interactive visualizations, you can take a concept further by using technology to navigate through charts and graphs for more detail, interactively changing what data you see and how it is processed. SAS offers several solutions for visualizing your data, many of which are powered by SAS<sup>®</sup> Viya<sup>®</sup>.

SAS Viya is an open analytics platform that can handle any data type, volume, or speed. A cloud-enabled, inmemory analytics engine, it is elastic, scalable, and fault tolerant. It contains a standardized code base that supports programming in SAS and other languages, such as Python, R, Java and Lua. In addition, it can deploy seamlessly to any infrastructure or application ecosystem with support for cloud, on-site, or hybrid environment. The high-performance processing power of SAS Viya is provided by SAS Cloud Analytics Services (CAS). CAS is an in-memory engine that can dramatically accelerate data management and analytics with SAS.

The four visualization solutions powered by SAS Viya that will be discussed in this book are as follows:

- SAS Visual Analytics
- SAS Visual Statistics
- SAS Visual Text Analytics
- SAS Visual Investigator

Users of all skill levels can visually explore data on their own in these programs while drawing on powerful inmemory technologies for faster analytic computations and discoveries. These programs offer an easy-to-use self-service environment that can scale on an enterprise-wide level.

The content in this book is based on <u>SAS® Viya® Enablement</u>, a free course available from SAS Education. This book covers how to view, create, and manipulate reports in SAS Visual Analytics and SAS Model Studio environments. This book only begins to show what these programs can do. It mainly focuses on the point-and-click features of the software.

If you want to learn more about the features of SAS Viya, how to load data into the CAS server, how to write new code, and how to perform data management and administrative tasks, then you might be interested in reading *Exploring SAS*<sup>®</sup> *Viya*<sup>®</sup>: *Programming and Data Management*.

# Is This Book for You?

SAS visualization software is designed for anyone in your organization who wants to use and derive insights from data—from influencers, decision makers, and analysts to statisticians and data scientists. It also offers IT an easy way to protect and manage data integrity and security.

With web-based exploratory analysis and other easy-to-use features, even users without analytical expertise can use predictive analytics to gain precise insights. Nontechnical users can create and change queries simply by selecting items from a sidebar or dynamically filtering and grouping data items. Autocharting selects the visualization that is most suitable for the type of data chosen. "What does it mean" pop-up boxes provide explanations of analytical techniques, helping everyone understand the data and what the analysis means.

# What Should You Know about the Examples?

The content in this book is based on <u>SAS® Viya® Enablement</u>, a free course available from SAS Education. You can follow along with the examples in real time by watching the videos if you prefer.

This book includes tutorials for you to follow to gain hands-on experience with SAS Visual Analytics and SAS Model Studio. Wherever possible, the source of the sample data is provided in a link. Some features shown might be available only if your site has licensed that feature in SAS Viya. Therefore, the options in your version of SAS might look different.

# We Want to Hear from You

Do you have questions about a SAS Press book that you are reading? Contact us at saspress@sas.com.

SAS Press books are written by SAS Users for SAS Users. Please visit <u>sas.com/books</u> to sign up to request information about how to become a SAS Press author.

Learn about new books and exclusive discounts. Sign up for our new books mailing list today at <a href="https://support.sas.com/en/books/subscribe-books.html">https://support.sas.com/en/books/subscribe-books.html</a>.

# **Chapter 1: Viewing and Creating Reports in SAS Visual Analytics**

Customizing Your SAS Home Page	1
Welcome Banner	2
Menu Bar	3
Application Bar Settings	6
Help	7
Using SAS Report Viewer	7
Slider	9
Filter	9
Details	10
Clear Filters	11
Information	11
Close Report	12
Creating a Basic Report	13
Data Panel	14
Objects Panel	15
Add a Page	18
Connecting Pages	20
Creating an Advanced Report with a Forecast	21
Modifying Time Values	21
Modifying Measures	23
Assigning Items to the Report	24
Adding a Forecast	25
Explore Mode	26
Modifying Reports	31
Using Hidden Pages	
Rearranging Objects by Using the Outline Pane	35
Creating New Charts Using Duplication and Changing Chart Types	
Resources	42

# **Customizing Your SAS Home Page**

Let's explore the features of the Home page in SAS Visual Analytics and learn how to make some customizations. After you sign in, you can see that the SAS Home Page consists of several sections as shown in Figure 1.1.

2 Exploring SAS Viya: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations

Figure	1.1:	Home	Page
--------	------	------	------

0	≡ SAS® Home			Search 🔎 ? Jane Doe 🔻
	Welcome!			
0		÷	0	*
	Click the icon beside *SAS® Home* in the banner to access constructions using the side menu.	Add application shortcuts or content tiles to your home page.	Content tiles can reference folder content.	Join a SAS community for great discussions on tips and best practices: https://communities.sas.com/welcome
€	🚍 Browse 🕂 Shortcut 🕂 Tile Publish 🗣	·		∧ Hide
	SAS Visual Analytics	: Favorites	: Links	
4	Insight Order Totals	EDU Order Totals Anal	ysis	
	EDU Insight 2004 - 2013 Order Information	E E Report		φ
	Jan 30, 2017, 12:37:54 PM			Add Links

From top to bottom, we see the following:

- the Application Bar, which includes your sign-in name, help button, and search bar
- the Welcome Banner, which can be hidden to allow for more room for tiles
- the Menu Bar, which includes Browse, Shortcut, and Tile options
- shortcut tiles and content tiles

#### **Welcome Banner**

Let's start by taking a quick look at the information in the Welcome banner in Figure 1.2, which consists of four tips to help you get started.



Figure 1.2: Welcome Banner

The first tip directs us to the side menu. Clicking the icon with three horizontal lines to the left of the SAS Home in the banner expands this menu. The side menu contains links to all the SAS applications that you can use. Close the side menu by clicking the collapse icon in the upper right-hand corner (circled in orange in Figure 1.3) or by clicking anywhere outside the menu.

#### Figure 1.3: Side Menu

(«	
Home	
Recent	
Reports	
SAS Theme Designer	
SAS Visual Analytics	5® ,
SAS Visual Data Builder	side
SAS Environment Manager	
Dashboard	Publish 👻
Users	
Data	
Content	
Resources >	
Security >	1
	Order Information
	ordermormation

Next, there is a tip about adding shortcuts to the SAS applications that you use most frequently and about adding content tiles—for example, a tile that lists the contents of a folder where you store reports.

Finally, in the Welcome banner, you see a link to join a SAS community. These communities are helpful sites where you can continue to learn about SAS applications, see how other members of the community are using the SAS applications, or reach out to your peers with a question.

You can hide the Welcome banner by selecting Hide in the lower right corner of the banner, and you can toggle it open again by selecting Show.

#### Menu Bar

Now let's make some customizations to the Home page by using the Menu Bar.

#### Add an Application Shortcut

Click the Add Shortcut button and add an application shortcut to your home page. In the Add Application Shortcut window, select the application that you want to add from the drop-down list as shown in Figure 1.4. This is the same list of applications that you saw on the side menu.

4 Exploring SAS Viya: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations

Figure 1.4: Add Application Shortcut

≡ SAS® Home					Search 🔎 🚱	
🖀 Browse 🕂 Shortcut 🕂 Tile Publish 👻						
SAS Visuel Analytice						
Recent	:	Add Application Shortcut		Links		:
Insight Order Totals	E	Application:				
Feb 13, 2017, 9:38:35 PM		Select an item	•			
EDU Insight 2004 - 2013 Order Information	1	Select an item	^			
		Reports			Add Links	
		SAS Theme Designer	Ŀ			
		SAS Visual Analytics				
		SAS Visual Data Builder				
		Dashboard		-		
		Users				
		Data				
		Content				
		Resources				
		Machines and Services	~			

In this example, we will select SAS Visual Data Builder. For the shortcut name, we will type "Data Builder" and select the color red. Click Save and the application shortcut is now added to your home page as shown in Figure 1.5.



≡ SAS® Home					Search 🔎 ?	Jane Doe 🔻
🖀 Browse 🕇 Shortcut 🕇 Tile 🦳 Publish 👻						← Show
SAS Visual Analytics Data Builder						
Recent	:	Favorites	:	Links		:
Insight Order Totals           Feb 13, 2017, 9:38:35 PM           EDU Insight 2004 - 2013 Order Information           Jan 30, 2017, 12:37:54 PM	i i	EDU Order Totals Analysis Report	ĩ		æ	
					Add Links	
				-		
		*				

If you want to make a change to the application shortcut later, you can click the three vertical dots in the upper right-hand corner of each application, which opens the Options menu. You can select Edit to modify the settings or select Remove to remove the shortcut from the Home page. Notice that each tile has the options menu. The options vary by tile, but all tiles include the Hide option.

#### Edit a Tile

Next, let's add a bookmark to the Favorites tile. Select the Options menu and then Edit, as shown in Figure 1.6.

Figure 1.6: Favorites Tile Options Menu

Favorit	es	÷.
5	EDU Order Totals Analysis Report	Edit Refresh Hide

In the Edit Favorites window, click the + sign, which is also called the Add icon. This pulls up the Open window, as shown in Figure 1.7. In the Open window, select the report that you want to add as a favorite, and click Open.

Figure 1.7: Choose Report Window

Search D		🗈 💼 🏣 :
olders > Shared Data		
My Folder	sc >	
Projects	EDU Control Test	
Public	EDU Insight 2004 - 2013 Order Infor	
Shared Data	EDU Insight Order Totals	
User Folders	EDU Insight Order Totals 2	
Users	EDU Insight Order Totals 2 Explore	
	EDU Order Totals Analysis	
	EDU Order Totals Analysis Explorer	
	EDU Order Totals Analysis Final	
	Insight Order Totals	
	Visual Analytics HOM	
lame:	Туре:	
	(all applicable types)	•

Back in the Edit Favorites window, select Save, and the bookmark for the report will now be added to the favorites tile, as shown in Figure 1.8

#### Figure 1.8: Updated Favorites Tile



# **Application Bar Settings**

Finally, let's modify some of the settings for the Home page. Click your sign-in name in the upper right-hand corner of the application bar at the top. Here, you can select Settings or Sign Out. We will select Settings. This opens the Settings window as shown in Figure 1.9.

#### Figure 1.9: Settings

▼ Global	General	Res
General		
Accessibility	Theme:	
▼ SAS Home	<ul> <li>Use the default theme (Illuminate) The default theme is set by the system administrator.</li> </ul>	
Initial Screen	O Choose a theme	
Tiles	II Illuminate	
	Reset to show all warning and confirmation messages:	
	Reset messages	

#### **Global Settings**

In the Settings window, there are a couple of global and accessibility settings. We will not go into these in detail here. Instead, we will move on to the next section on the left, which is the SAS Home page.

#### **SAS Home Page**

For the SAS Home page, there are settings for the initial screen and tiles. The Initial screen setting enables you to select the screen that opens when you sign in. The default is the Home page, but depending on your role, you might want to open another application by default by selecting that application from the drop-down menu.

You can also change the order of actions for a report. The default action is listed at the top, and here the default is to open a report in the viewer. An analyst who can edit or view a report might prefer to set the default action to open in the editor. To make this change, you select the action that you want as the default and use the arrow keys to the right to move it to the top, as shown in Figure 1.10.

Figure 1.10: Initial Screen Settings

General Accessibility	Set initial screen:		Re
▼ SAS Home	Home	•	
Initial Screen			
Tiles	Order the actions associated	d with a content type:	
	Content Types	Actions	1
	Report	View - Reports	- 1
		Edit - SAS Visual Analytics	J
	Content Types Report	I with a content type: Actions View - Reports Edit - SAS Visual Analytics	

Now let's look at the settings for Tiles. See Figure 1.11.

<ul> <li>▼ Global General Accessibility</li> <li>▼ SAS Home Initial Screen</li> </ul>	1	Files         Display or hide items by switching them on or off, buttons.         File Name         Application Shortcuts         Recent         Favorites         Links	and reorder them by using the	Rese e arrow
---	---	--	-------------------------------	-----------------

#### Figure 1.11: Tile Settings

You can choose to hide or show tiles by clicking on the toggle button to the right. If one of the tiles has been hidden, you will be able to see that it is turned off here. You can also control the arrangement of tiles on the Home page by selecting a tile and using the up or down arrows on the right to specify the order. When you are finished in the Settings window, click Close to exit.

#### Help

To see documentation for the Home page and other features in SAS Visual Analytics, click the Help menu button in the upper right-hand corner of the top banner, and then select Help Center to open the SAS documentation in a new window, as shown in Figure 1.12.





# **Using SAS Report Viewer**

In this section, we will learn how to open, view, and use actions in an existing SAS Visual Analytics report in the SAS Report Viewer. For this example, the report that we want to open is called "EDU Insight 2004–2013 Order Information Report." The sample data used to create this report is available from the <u>SAS Visual Analytics 8.1 on SAS Visua 3.2 Documentation page</u>.

From your Home page, there are multiple ways to open a report in the Report Viewer. Each of the following methods is highlighted in a box in Figure 1.13.

8 Exploring SAS Viya: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations

•		•		0				
≡ SAS® Home						Search	<u>9</u> و	Jane Doe
Welcor	ne!							
			+				*	
Click the i Home" in tl your applica	icon beside "SAS® he banner to access ations using the side menu.	Add ar content t	oplication shortcuts or iles to your home page.	Content tiles can refere content.	nce folder	Join a SAS discussion I <u>https://commu</u>	community fo ns on tips and practices: unities.sas.com	or great I best /welcome
🖆 Browse 🕂 S	Shortcut 🕂 Tile Publ	ish 👻						► Hide
SAS Visual An	elytics SAS Visuel Di	ata Builder	SAS Theme Designer	: Reports				
Recent		:	Favorites	:	Links			:
EDU In Feb 24,	sight 2004 - 2013 Order Inforr 2017, 10:28:14 AM	nation [	EDU Insight Order To Report	otals		æ		
Insight Feb 23,	Order Total Forecast 2017, 9:00:55 AM	ĩ						
Feb 13,	Order Totals 2017, 9:38:35 PM	i				Add Lin	KS	

Figure 1.13: Methods to Open Report Viewer from Home Page

The methods shown in Figure 1.13 are:

- **Browse**. Select Browse from the menu bar and navigate to the SAS folder that contains the report and open it from there.
- Recent Tile. If you recently viewed the report, you can use the link in the Recent tile to open it.
- **Favorites Tile**. If you added a bookmark to the report in your Favorites tile, you can use the bookmark to open it.
- **Report Application**. You can also open the Report Viewer application directly by selecting the shortcut button included on the Home Page. To find a report, you can enter a term in the filter field to limit the reports displayed in the list. Or you can browse through all folders or browse recently viewed reports.

Once you open the report with any of these methods, you will see the report in SAS Report Viewer, as shown in Figure 1.14.





Notice that the report has two pages: Order Totals and Order Averages. This report also has a filter that you can use to choose the number of years of data to include in the report. Below the filter are instructions about the actions that are included in the report, as well as a donut chart and a bar chart.

#### Slider

Looking at the donut chart in Figure 1.14, we can see that over the 10-year period from 2004 to 2013, the Toy brand accounts for 54.6% of the total orders. What will happen if we want to look at only the last 5 years of data? Will that percentage change? Move the year slider to change the beginning year to 2009 and see what happens.

When the year slider is moved, a new query is passed to the in-memory table and results are updated as shown in Figure 1.15. The year slider is a report-level prompt, so it is applied to all pages in the report.



Figure 1.15: Slider Feature

As shown in Figure 1.15, we can see that over the past 5 years, the toy brand accounts for 56% of total orders.

#### Filter

The instructions in the report indicate that there is a filter action set up between the donut chart and the bar chart. When we click the Toy arc, the bar chart displays only the product line values from the Toy brand, as shown in Figure 1.16.

#### Figure 1.16: Filter Action



#### **Details**

The instructions indicate a further action. By double-clicking a bar in the bar chart, we can see a link to the Detailed Product Line Page.

If you double-click the Game bar, a window opens with two tables, as shown in Figure 1.17. To increase the size of the window, click the maximize button in the upper right-hand corner.

	Order Total	Product Style	Product Make	Product Line A	t Line	Year and Produ	Order Counts by
	\$358.727	Backgammon	Board Game (I)	Game		Toy	Product Brand 🔺
	\$376,129	BoB	Board Game (I)	Game		Game	Product Line 🔺
	\$401,233	Checkers	Board Game (I)	Game		Frequency	Year Cat
	\$366,860	Chess	Board Game (I)	Game		04.009	T-t-l
par to	\$364,931	Dropoff	Board Game (I)	Game		94,900	Total
	\$404,586	Kind Kats	Board Game (I)	Game		17,308	2009
	\$384,513	Pink Unicorns	Board Game (I)	Game		20,328	2010
	\$375,486	Pop	Board Game (I)	Game		21,011	2011
	\$390,850	Rough Dogs	Board Game (I)	Game		19,862	2012
	\$378,100	Stack	Board Game (I)	Game		16.399	2013
	\$418,064	Waggle	Board Game (I)	Game			
	\$1,163,243	Backgammon Deluxe	Board Game (II)	Game			
	\$1,251,937	Checkers Deluxe	Board Game (II)	Game			
	\$1,194,087	Chess Deluxe	Board Game (II)	Game			
	\$1,195,855	Downhill	Board Game (II)	Game			
	\$1,231,935	Life Lessons	Board Game (II)	Game			
	\$1,193,083	Money Pit	Board Game (II)	Game			
1000	\$1,138,394	Risky Business	Board Game (II)	Game	7		
	\$2,439,629	Cars	Board Game (III)	Game			
_	Sum:			-			

Figure 1.17: Details Window

The table on the left is a crosstab that displays the order counts by year for the Game product line. The table on the right is a detailed listing of the Game product line data. Close the window by selecting the Close button in the lower right-hand corner.

# **Clear Filters**

Back on the Order Totals page, you can clear the filters on the page by clicking in the white space by the donut chart, as shown in Figure 1.18 where the pointer is highlighted. Notice that this only resets the filters; it does not reset the slider.

#### Figure 1.18: Clear Filters



#### Information

Now, let's look at the second page of the report by clicking Order Averages at the top of the screen to move to the next page. As you will recall, the year slider is a report-level prompt, so it is applied to all pages in the report.

On the previous Order Totals page, we saw that the Toy brand accounted for a higher percentage of the order total, or revenue. But on this page, we can see that the average per order is higher for the Novelty brand, as shown in the donut chart in Figure 1.19.



.

Product Brand

Toy

If you want to see more information about an item in the report, you can click the information icon in the righthand pane, as shown in Figure 1.20. This opens the information pane.

\$800

\$600

\$400 \$200

\$0

Beach

**P** ?

88 : P

Product Brand Novelty Toy

\$449

Promo

\$62

Thrift

\$95

Plush

\$735

Gift

Product Line

\$519

Game

\$469

Figure

Bead

Close

<<

Ħ

i

P

7

#### Figure 1.20: Information Pane

\$1,122



Here, we see that the donut chart is filtered by years. To close this panel, click the information icon again.

# **Close Report**

To close a report, click Close in the upper right-hand corner of the report. To return to your Home page if you are not already there, click the side menu in the upper left-hand corner, and select Home.

# **Creating a Basic Report**

Now that you have customized your Home page and viewed some of the features of a report, let's learn how to create a report in SAS Visual Analytics. When you are signed in to your Home page, click the SAS Visual Analytics tile shortcut, which is shown as an orange tile in Figure 1.21.



≡ SAS® Home					Search	<b>9</b>	Jane Doe 🔻
Welcome!							î
		÷				**	
Click the icon beside "SAS® Home" in the banner to access your applications using the side menu.	Add ap content ti	plication shortcuts or les to your home page.	Content tiles can refere content.	nce folder	Join a SAS con discussions c pra- https://communiti	nmunity fo on tips and ctices: <u>es.sas.com/</u>	r great best <u>welcome</u>
🖀 Browse 🕂 Shortcut 🕂 Tile Pub	olish 🔻						▲ Hide
SAS Theme Designer SAS Visual	Analytics	SAS Visual Data Builder	SAS Environment Manager				
Recent	:	Favorites	:	Links			:
EDU Insight Order Totals Jan 19, 2017, 8:50:54 AM	ž				Ð		
		Add F	avorites		Add Links	]	

On the welcome screen that is shown in Figure 1.22, you will see the following three options for starting your report:

- Data. Select a data source.
- New. Start a new report without adding data.
- **Open**. Browse for an existing report.

#### Figure 1.22: SAS Visual Analytics Welcome Screen



In this example, we will start our report by selecting a data source, so we click the Data button. The Open Data Source window appears. We will create a report from a data set called INSIGHTTOY. In the search bar, search for the name of the data set. Select INSIGHTTOY from the Open Data Source window. Then click OK.

The data source has been added to your report and you are in design mode as shown in Figure 1.23.

■ SAS® Visual Analytics - *Report 1		Search 🔎 ?	Jane Doe 🔻
• Page 1 +		70	n @   :
Data       P         INSIGHTTOY       INSIGHTTOY         Add       P       Im         Category       Facility - 130         Facility City - 128       Facility Country/Regi 32         Facility Country/Regi 32       Facility Country/Regi 32         Facility Date Closed - 1       Facility Date Opened - 19         Facility State/Province - 97       Manufacturing Bat 1.4M         Manufacturing Batc 779       Manufacturing Facility - 17         Order - 1.4M       Order - 1.4M	Top a data item or content here	Options General Theme Report theme: Umstead Report background: Report prompt background: Font: Avenir Next	▼
Order Note - 963K     Product Brand - 2	~		<b>F</b>

#### Figure 1.23: Design Mode

As you design your report, you will be using three main areas. The far-left pane has three buttons that toggle open the Data, Objects, and Outline panels. Currently, in Figure 1.23, the Data panel is open. In the middle of the screen is the canvas where you will design your report. The far-right pane has buttons for opening the Options, Roles, Actions, Rules, Filters, and Ranks panels. Currently, in Figure 1.23, the Options panel is open.

Generally, when you are designing a report, any changes that you make in the left-hand pane will apply to *all* parts of the report. Any changes that you make in the right-hand pane will apply only to *individual* report objects.

#### **Data Panel**

Let's look more closely at the Data panel on the far-left side of the screen. In Figure 1.23, you see a list of data items in the INSIGHTTOY table. The data items are arranged alphabetically within the classification type. There are two classification types: Category and Measure. The Category classification consists of character variables and date variables. The Measure classification consists of the numeric variables that we can analyze.

In the list of data items, you can highlight a data item by hovering over the name to see more information. For Category data items, you can see the number of distinct values and the format that is applied. For Measure data items, you can see the format and the aggregation that are applied.

As part of the preparation for creating a report that has both summary and detail information for orders in the product lines sold by Insight Toy, we will edit a data item. Hover over the Measure item "Sales Rep & of Target." Then select the Edit properties for this data item, which appears as a black circle with a pencil as shown in Figure 1.24.

#### Figure 1.24: Edit Data Properties



Let's look at how the properties are defined for this data item. The default aggregation is Sum. For this data item, Average is more meaningful. So select Sum and use the drop-down menu to change the aggregation to Average.

#### **Objects Panel**

Now that you have seen how to view and edit data items in the Data panel, we can begin to add report objects by using the Object panel. Select Objects in the far-left pane to view the Objects panel as shown in Figure 1.25.

=	SAS® Visual Analytics - *Report 1		Search 🔎 ? Jane Do	e 🔻
•	Page 1 +		۳) (۳) (۳) (۳)	:
	Page 1 <ul> <li>Objects</li> <li>Tables</li> <li>Crosstab</li> <li>List Table</li> </ul> <ul> <li>Grosstab</li> <li>List Table</li> <li>Graphs</li> <li>Bar Chart</li> <li>Box Plot</li> <li>Bubble Plot</li> <li>Bubble Plot</li> <li>Butterfly Chart</li> <li>Correlation Matrix</li> <li>Dual Axis Bar Chart</li> <li>Dual Axis Bar Chart</li> <li>Dual Axis Inine Chart</li> <li>Dual Axis Time Series Plot</li> <li>Gauge</li> </ul>	Drop a data item or content here	Image: Second state sta	ii >> Coptions Roles States Rules Ranks
Ŧ	Heat Map			Ŧ

#### Figure 1.25: Object Panel

# Add an Object (Roles)

To add a bar chart to the report, select the Bar Chart object from the Object panel, and drag it over to the canvas in the middle of the screen. A placeholder bar chart appears in the canvas area, as shown in Figure 1.26.

Figure 1.26: Placeholder Chart



Now we can associate data items with roles in the bar chart. In the far-right pane, select Roles. You can tell from the red asterisks which roles are required for the bar chart. Under Category, select Add. Then choose Product Line from the window that appears. The bar chart updates automatically, with Frequency used in the Measure role by default. However, we want to compare order totals for the product lines, so we will change the Measure. Click Frequency, and in the Replace Data Item window, select Order Total instead. Our bar chart now looks like the chart shown in Figure 1.27.



#### Figure 1.27: Product Line Bar Chart

We can see that Game and Figure are the two top product lines. What if you want to see this chart grouped by Brand? For the Group Role in the right-hand pane, select Add, and then choose Product Brand.

Now we can see that the top two product lines, Game and Figure, are in the Toy brand, as shown in Figure 1.28.



Figure 1.28: Product Line Bar Chart Grouped by Brand

# **Modify Properties (Options)**

Next, let's modify some of the properties for our bar chart. In the far-right pane, click Options. This will cause the Options panel to appear on the right, as shown in Figure 1.29.





To add a title, click General and enter the title of your chart in the Title field. For this example, enter "Order Totals by Product Line" in the title field, and then press Enter.

In the Bar section, select the check box for Show data labels. Increase the text size to 10 and set the Bold attribute. In the Bar section, you can also change the direction of the bars to vertical instead of horizontal.

In the Y Axis options section, clear the check box for Axis label.

Finally, in the Legends section, change the placement to the upper right-hand position by selecting the radio button that corresponds to that location.

After modifying all those options, your bar chart will look like the chart shown in Figure 1.30.



Figure 1.30: Order Totals by Product Line

It looks pretty good, right? To save the report, click the More Options in the upper right-hand corner of the screen, which appears as three vertical dots. Select Save As. In the Save As window in Figure 1.31, you can choose the location to which you want to save your report. In this example, select the Shared Data folder, and in the Name field, enter "Insight Order Totals." Select Save.

Search D		11 前 11 :
Folders > Shared Data		
My Folder	SC >	
Projects	EDU Control Test	
Public	EDU Insight 2004 - 2013 Order Info	
Shared Data	EDU Insight Order Totals	
User Folders	EDU Insight Order Totals 2	
	EDU Insight Order Totals 2 Explore	
	EDU Order Totals Analysis	
	EDU Order Totals Analysis Explorer	
	EDU Order Totals Analysis Final	
	Visual Analytics HOW	
	I Visual Applition WOW/(Ctart)	
lame:	Type:	
Insight Order Totals	Report	v

Figure 1.31: Save As Window

Congratulations! You have just created your first report.

# Add a Page

In this section, you will learn how to add a new page to the report that you created in the previous section. Click the + sign, which is the Add a Page button to the right of Page 1 at the top right-hand corner of the screen. A blank page appears, and you see a Page 2 heading at the top of the screen.

Now that you have multiple pages, it might be helpful to give each page a meaningful name. Double-click the button for Page 1 and rename it "Order Total Summary" as shown in Figure 1.32. Double-click Page 2, and name it "Order Total Details."

Figure 1.32: Rename Page



On this new page, you can follow the previous steps that we used to create a report by examining the data and adding objects. In this example, we will not edit any of the data, but we will add a list table that shows detailed data for orders.

In the left-hand pane, select Objects. Drag the List Table object to the canvas. You will not see a placeholder chart.

In the far-right pane, select Roles to select columns for the list table. Click Add, and then select the five following data items: Product Line, Product Make, Product SKU, Order Total, and Sales Rep % of Total, as shown in Figure 1.33. Then click OK.



Figure 1.33: Add Data Items for List Table

Add a Title to this table by clicking Options in the far-right pane. In the Title field, enter the title "Product Line Details." Also, expand the Totals section, and select Show Totals, as shown in Figure 1.34.

der Total Summa	ry Order	Total Details 🛛	+		* Ø F
					Options
Product Line D	etalls				
Product Line A	Product Make	Product SKU	Order Total	Sales Rep % of Target	General
Beach	Beach Ball (I)	00LNH4	546,011	33%	General
Beach	Beach Ball (I)	00LNH5	558,524	36%	Background
Beach	Beach Ball (I)	00LNH6	508,291	34%	
Beach	Beach Ball (I)	00LNH7	506,857	37%	▶ Table
Beach	Beach Ball (I)	00LNH8	556,673	37%	► Cells
Beach	Beach Ball (I)	00LNH9	531,402	33%	
Beach	Beach Ball (I)	00LNHA	531,168	34%	<ul> <li>Totals</li> </ul>
Beach	Beach Ball (I)	00LNHB	538,953	37%	Show totals
Beach	Beach Ball (I)	00LNHC	529,090	35%	
Beach	Beach Ball (I)	00LNHD	535,190	33%	Show labels for totals
Beach	Beach Ball (I)	00LNHE	547,950	36%	Rackground color:
Beach	Beach Ball (m)	00LNEC	429,647	32%	
Beach	Beach Ball (m)	00LNED	410,283	33%	
Beach	Beach Ball (m)	OOLNEE	420,912	34%	Formati
Beach	Beach Ball (m)	OOLNEF	404,024	32%	Tomac
Beach	Beach Ball (m)	00LNEG	391,527	33%	Avenir Next 🔻
Beach	Beach Ball (m)	00LNEH	408,609	32%	11 -
Beach	Beach Ball (m)	00LNEI	407,310	33%	
Beach	Beach Ball (m)	00LNEJ	428,458	36%	B I U
Beach	Beach Ball (m)	00LNEK	437,579	33%	
Beach	Beach Ball (m)	00LNEL	424,325	35%	Data Options
			Sum:	Average: 46%	► Layout

#### Figure 1.34: Options Panel for List Table

There are many rows in this table, so let's connect the two pages in our report with the filter action.

#### **Connecting Pages**

Click "Order Total Summary" to return to the first page of the report. Remember in the previous section that this is what we renamed "Page 1." Now, let's select the bar chart to make it active.

In the far-right pane, select Actions, and click the Add button. From the menu, select Add page link as shown in Figure 1.35.



#### Figure 1.35: Add Page Link

In the Add Page Link Actions window that appears, you can select which pages you want to link to. Here, you simply click OK because there is only one other page in this report. The link to the other page now shows in the Actions pane.

Let's test the action by double-clicking the bar for the Beach product line. This page link action automatically flips the page to display the Order Total Details page and filters the list table object to display rows for only the Beach product line.

Save this report by clicking the More Options icon, which appears as three vertical dots, in the upper right-hand corner of the screen. Select Save.

# **Creating an Advanced Report with a Forecast**

Let's use SAS Visual Analytics to further explore the sample data used in this chapter, the INSIGHTTOY data, and learn how to use some more advanced options to create new columns. In this section, we will focus on the key metric, Order Total, and then use that data to generate a forecast of the next 6 months.

After opening SAS Visual Analytics, select the INSIGHTTOY data source from the data panel. In the Objects panel, select the Time Series plot object, and drag it to the canvas. A placeholder time series plot appears in the window as shown in Figure 1.36.



#### Figure 1.36: Placeholder Time Series Plot

## **Modifying Time Values**

A time series plot requires a date formatted column on the Time, or X, axis. When we return to the data panel and look at the INSIGHTTOY data, we see that there are three data values, as shown in Figure 1.37: Transaction Date, Transaction Day of Week, and Transaction Month of Year.

22 Exploring SAS Viya: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations



#### Figure 1.37: Data Panel

For this example, we want to use a date with a different format than the ones already available in the data. To do this, we will duplicate a column and select the format that we need. To duplicate a column, right-click the name of the data value, and click Duplicate, as shown in Figure 1.38.

<b>-</b> :	4 00.	Dunkasta	-	
Figure	1.38:	Duplicate	а	Column



Notice that a new column has been created with the name Transaction Date (1). Click the Edit Properties button for the new column, Transaction Date (1). Change the name to "Transaction Month." Then, click the Format field, which currently shows MMDDYYYY. A new format window appears, as shown in Figure 1.39.

Figure	1.39:	Format	Window
--------	-------	--------	--------

eset to Default	
Date	^
Date with Month Name	
Day of Month	
Day of Week	
Day of Year	
Day, Date	
DDMMYYYY	
Julian	
MMDDYYYY	
MMMYYYY	
MMYYYY	
Month	
Month, Day, Year	
Year	~
rmat: Jup2015	

In the Format window, change the format to MMMYYYY. In the format display circled in orange in Figure 1.39, you can see how your new format will be displayed as a separate data point for each month by year. This is the format that we need to generate a monthly forecast. Click OK.

Click Edit Properties again on the newly named Transaction Month column to close the edit panel.

## **Modifying Measures**

For the next part of this example, we will modify the Y-axis properties for the Order Total column to reflect that the data is in US dollars. Click the Edit Properties button on the Order Total column in the Data panel. Click Format, and then change the format from Comma to Dollar as shown in Figure 1.40.

Figure	1.40:	Format

=	SAS® Visual Analytics - *Report 1		Search 🔎 🛛 😧 🗄 Jane Doe 🔻
0	Page 1 +	Format	* 🖉   🄊 🔍 🗄
	Data D	Reset to Default	▲
12	INSIGHTTOY	Comma	
Objects		Dollar	Robes
Outline		Euro	
	Market Penetration	Float	
	Order Distribution Cost	Numeric	
	Order Marketing Cost	Percent	Filter
	Order Product Cost	Pound	ii Runka
	Order Sales Cost	Won	
	🗹 Order Total 🛛 🛛	Yen	
	Name:	P Duration	
	Order Total	<ul> <li>Currency (international)</li> </ul>	
	Classification:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	Measure 💌 🔣	Width: 15 ^ (2 - 32)	
	Format:		
	Comma	- (0 · 32)	✓ 0Mar17 12Mar17 14Mar17
	Aggregation:	QK Cancel	12Marty Pawarty
平	Default (Sum)		-

#### Assigning Items to the Report

Now we can select the data items for the roles in the time series plot. Select Roles in the right-hand pane. For the Time Axis role, select Add, and then select the new column that we created earlier, Transaction Month. For the measure, select Frequency, and then replace it with Order Total, which we modified earlier to be formatted in US dollars. After you make these selections, your time series plot looks like the one shown in Figure 1.41.



#### Figure 1.41: Time Series Plot

You might notice that the time series plot shows more than 30 years of data. You can add a filter to limit the number of years, but you can also change the display.

Click Options in the right-hand pane, expand X Axis Options, and select Show overview axis, as shown in Figure 1.42. With the overview axis, you can control the length of time that is currently displayed in the plot and focus on a briefer time period.





# Adding a Forecast

Now let's add a forecast to our time series plot. In the Options panel on the right, expand Time Series, and click the Show forecast check box, as shown in Figure 1.43.



#### Figure 1.43: Add Show Forecast Option

To focus on the past 5 years of available data, adjust the left slider on the overview axis to show data only from January 2009 to 2013. Because we have added a forecast, a Forecast section is added to the Options panel, as shown in Figure 1.44. Here, you can modify the confidence interval or the number of periods in the forecast horizon. Currently, the number is set at 6, which is a 6-month horizon.



Figure 1.44: Options Panel Forecast Section

Suppose that this forecast is the one that you want to share with your manager. Save it by selecting the More Options in the upper right-hand corner of the screen (three vertical dots), and then select Save As. In the Save As window, select the Shared Data folder, and name the report "Insight Order Total Forecast."

# **Explore Mode**

To understand the details of this forecast, let's view this plot in Explore mode. Close all the panels on the right and left side of the screen. Click the Object Options menu (<<) in the upper right-hand area of the window, and then select Explore as shown in Figure 1.45.





In this mode, the plot has two tabs below it:

- Results
- Dependent Variable Results

#### **Results Tab**

In the Results tab, as shown in Figure 1.46, you can scroll to the bottom, where you can see the forecasted values for November 2013 through April 2014, as well as the lower and upper confidence intervals for these values.



#### Figure 1.46: Results Tab

#### **Dependent Variables Results Tab**

In the Dependent Variables Results tab in Figure 1.47, you can see that the best algorithm selected to forecast this data was the Winters Method (Additive). Now you have the answers to the questions that you might receive from your manager about this analysis.



Figure 1.47: Depend Variables Results Tab

If you save the report while you are working in Explore Mode, then the next time you open the report in Visual Analytics, it will open in Explore Mode again. To avoid this, exit Explore Mode by clicking the Return to Report arrow button in the upper left-hand corner, next to the word *Explore*. Now you can save the report by clicking More Options and Save.

#### Filters

The plot in Figure 1.47 shows us profit for all products, but maybe you want to see how some of the individual product lines performed. One way to do so is by adding Product Line to the Group role. In the right-hand pane, click Roles. Notice in Figure 1.48 that the Group role is not available. This is because the time series plot contains a forecast.



#### Figure 1.48: Roles Panel

Instead of adding a Group role, you can add a filter for Product line. Click Filters, select Add, and select Product Line, as shown in Figure 1.49.



#### Figure 1.49: Add a Filter

Now, we can look at the time series plot for individual product lines. Start by clearing the check box for Select All and then selecting Beach. The plot shown in Figure 1.50 is quite different from the plot for all product lines, but it is not surprising that profit for Beach products is higher in the summer than in the winter. You might also notice that the algorithm for the forecast is different. This set of data was best forecasted with use of the Winters Method multiplicative algorithm.



Figure 1.50: Beach Product Line Time Series Plot with Forecast

#### **Create New Graph Objects**

What if we want to compare the Beach product line to the other product lines? An easy way to do so is to duplicate this time series plot. Open the Object Menu, and then select More Options and then Duplicate, as shown in Figure 1.51.





A copy of the forecast is added below the original with all the same attributes, including the filter that we just added, as shown in Figure 1.52.



#### Figure 1.52: Duplicated Forecast

To change the filter on the original chart, follow the same steps to add a filter as before. Click Filters in the rightmost pane, and then click the Select All check box to include all product lines. You can now see that the top forecast in Figure 1.53 includes all product lines, while the bottom includes the Beach product line.





We have already noticed that the profit for the Beach product line is highest when other product lines are not as profitable. If we look at the scale of the Y axis on each chart, we can see that the profit from the beach product line is relatively small compared to overall profit. Perhaps the company might consider adding some additional seasonal products to increase profit during the less profitable times of the year.

We could spend a lot of time comparing different product lines by changing the filter combinations in the two charts. But let's exit Explore mode and return to the report by clicking the arrow in the upper left.

When we exit Explore mode, we are back to the original report layout. The chart that we added is on Page 2 as shown in Figure 1.54, and the page is hidden.


#### Figure 1.54: Modified Report

When a page is hidden, it is not visible to anyone who views the report in the Report Viewer. We could leave the page hidden, or unhide it to include it in the report. Use the eye icon on the left side of the page button to hide or unhide. We can also delete the page by using the x icon on the right side of the page button.

In this section you learned how to add a forecast to a time series plot and view information about the forecast. We have seen how to use Explore mode to examine additional information about charts and create new objects. When we create new objects in Explore mode, the original layout of the page is preserved, and the new content is displayed on a new hidden page in the report.

# **Modifying Reports**

In this section, we will be looking at an example report that has four pages with various analyses of profit for a toy company.

The Profit and Cost by Product Line page shown in Figure 1.55 has two prompts that filter the data in the treemap and time series plot on the page.

32 Exploring SAS Viya: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations



#### Figure 1.55: Profit and Cost by Product Line

The next page, the Profit by Facility Regions page shown in Figure 1.56, has a geographical map with bubbles that show Profit and Order Total for each continent.

#### Figure 1.56: Profit by Facility Regions



The third page, the Profit Bar Chart page shown in Figure 1.57, has the same measures as the previous page in a bar chart report object.



#### Figure 1.57: Profit Bar Chart

And the final page, the Profit Details page shown in Figure 1.58, displays profit data in a list table. You can see by the icon circled next to the page name that this is a hidden page.

Figure	1.58:	Profit	Details	Page
--------	-------	--------	---------	------

rofit and Cost by Product Line	Profit by Fa	cility Regions	Profit Bar Chart	Profit Details 3 +	70 50
		Drop a data item	or control to create a	report prompt	
		Drop a data item	or control to create a	a page prompt	
Facility Country/Region	▲ Facility City	Product Brand	Product Line	Profit	
Argentina	Buenos Aires	Тоу	Figure	\$245,759	1
Argentina	Buenos Aires	Тоу	Game	\$221,194	
Argentina	Buenos Aires	Тоу	Plush	\$14,631	
Australia	Brisbane	Novelty	Beach	\$43,795	
Australia	Brisbane	Novelty	Bead	\$104,904	
Australia	Brisbane	Novelty	Thrift	\$433	
Australia	Brisbane	Тоу	Figure	\$78,816	
Australia	Brisbane	Тоу	Game	\$82,239	
Australia	Brisbane	Тоу	Plush	\$3,982	
Australia	Melbourne	Novelty	Beach	\$62,259	
Australia	Melbourne	Novelty	Bead	\$85,411	
Australia	Melbourne	Novelty	Thrift	\$1,164	
Australia	Melbourne	Тоу	Figure	\$72,143	
Australia	Melbourne	Тоу	Game	\$71,738	
Australia	Melbourne	Тоу	Plush	\$4,578	
Australia	Perth	Novelty	Beach	\$52,297	
Australia	Perth	Novelty	Bead	\$82,759	
				Sum: \$87,864,383	

### **Using Hidden Pages**

Now let's take a quick look at this report in the viewer. To go to the Report Viewer, select More Options (three vertical dots in the upper right-hand corner), and then select View Report from the drop-down menu.

In the Report Viewer, only three pages are displayed, as shown in Figure 1.59.



#### Figure 1.59: Report Viewer

The Profit Details page is hidden, so it does not appear in the viewer. It is, however, available through a link from another section. Select the Profit by Facility Regions page to view the Geo map. As shown in Figure 1.60, the note indicates that you can double-click a bubble to show facilities at the next level of the hierarchy or view profit details. To start, double-click the bubble over Europe, and select the option to Drill into Facility Continents (Europe).



Figure 1.60: Profit by Facility Regions Drill Action

Now you can see additional bubbles that show Western European countries that have facilities. According to the size of the bubbles, the UK Facilities have the highest order totals and profit. Double-click the UK bubble as shown in Figure 1.61, and this time, select Page Link to Profit Details from the drop-down menu.



Figure 1.61: Profit by Facility Regions Link Action

The hidden page with the Profit Details table appears. This is a subset of the table that we saw on the hidden page in Visual Analytics. Click Maximize View to see the detail profit data in a larger version of the table as shown in Figure 1.62.

rigule 1.02. Thugen rage in heport viewe	Figure	1.62:	Hidden	Page in	Report	Viewe
--	--------	-------	--------	---------	--------	-------

Facility Country/Region	A Facility City	Product Brand	Product Line	Profit	
United Kingdom	London	Novelty	Beach	\$288,744	
United Kingdom	London	Novelty	Thrift	57,504 🖑	
United Kingdom	London	Novelty	Bead	\$344,944	
United Kingdom	London	Тоу	Figure	\$470,728	
United Kingdom	London	Тоу	Game	\$532,944	
United Kingdom	London	Тоу	Plush	\$55,650	
United Kingdom	Manchester	Тоу	Game	\$560,727	
United Kingdom	Manchester	Тоу	Figure	\$517,765	
United Kingdom	Manchester	Тоу	Plush	\$58,679	
United Kingdom	Manchester	Novelty	Beach	\$269,647	
United Kingdom	Manchester	Novelty	Bead	\$347,342	
United Kingdom	Manchester	Novelty	Thrift	\$8,913	
				Sum: \$3,463,587	

We can see that there are facilities in Manchester and London, and we see the profit for each product brand and line. Close this page, and then use the link to go back to the top of the hierarchy in the report.

### **Rearranging Objects by Using the Outline Pane**

In this section, we will continue looking at the example report from the previous section that has four pages with various analyses of profit for a toy company. Return to Visual Analytics to edit the report.

Recall that the second and third pages of the report show the same information displayed as two different chart types: a geo map and a bar chart. What if we want to fit both charts on the same page?

#### 36 Exploring SAS Viya: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations

To move objects between pages, use the Outline pane on the left side of the screen. In the Outline pane there are several additional actions that you can take besides moving objects. You can add a page by using the Add Page button. Or you can select an object in the current report and use the buttons to either explore data or delete the object, as shown in Figure 1.63. You can also change the visibility of a page by clicking the eye icon on the right side of the page. Notice that you cannot change the visibility of the Profit by Facility Regions page. This page contains a link to the Profit Details page, so it cannot be hidden.



#### Figure 1.63: Outline Pane

Now let's see how to rearrange objects in a report. Expand the Profit by Facility Regions and Profit Bar Chart pages in the Outline pane. We want to move the bar chart on the Profit Bar Chart page to the Profit by Facility Regions page so that both the geo map and bar chart with the same information are together.

To move an object, click the Move button by moving your cursor over the double column of vertical dots to the right of the object that you want to move in the Outline pane. A four-sided arrow will appear. Drag the object to the new location. In this case, you will drag the bar chart to the Profit by Facility Regions page. The charts are now on the same page and stacked, as shown in Figure 1.64.



#### Figure 1.64: Stacked Charts

If you want to see the charts side-by-side instead of stacked, click the drag button at the top of the bar chart. It looks like a double row of horizontal dots. A four-sided arrow appears. Drag the object until the indicator line to the right of the geo map is reached. The charts are now side-by-side. Remember that, if you do not like a change, then you can use the Undo button in the upper right-hand corner of the window (circled in Figure 1.65).



Figure 1.65: Side-by-Side Charts

What if you prefer a vertical bar chart instead of a horizontal bar chart now? Make sure the bar chart object is selected, and then click Options from the rightmost pane. In the Bar section, you can change the direction to vertical, as shown in Figure 1.66. Then close the Options pane by clicking outside of it.



### Figure 1.66: Options Pane

Because we moved the bar chart from the third page to the second page, the third page is now empty. We want to delete that page now. Go back to the Outline pane on the left side. Select the Profit Bar Chart page, and delete it by clicking on the trashcan icon, as shown in Figure 1.67.

Figure 1.67: Outline Pane Delete Page Option

=	SAS® Visual Analytics - *EDU Multi-page report		Search 🔎 ? Jane	Doe 🔻
	Profit and Cost by Product Line Profit by	Facility Regions • Profit Bar Chart © • Profit Details	+ 70 10 1	:
iiii ())) Data	Outline P :	Drop a data item or control to create a report prompt		Options
Cbjects	Add Page 🗟 👼	Drop a data item or control to create a page prompt		K: Roles
Outline	EDU Multi-page report <ul> <li>Profit and Cost by Product</li> <li>Product Make Treemap</li> <li>Time Series Plot 1</li> <li>Profit by Facility Regions</li> <li>Profits by Facility Location</li> <li>Profit and Order Totals by</li> <li> <ul></ul></li></ul>	Drop a data item or content here		Actions Rules Filters Ranks
Ŧ				

Your report now has three pages, one of which will be hidden in Report Viewer.

# **Creating New Charts Using Duplication and Changing Chart Types**

Sometimes a convenient way to create or modify a SAS Visual Analytics report is to duplicate an existing chart and change the chart type. This enables you to quickly and easily view the same data in a different way.

To start, open an existing report in Visual Analytics. The report in this example has two pages. There is an optional report-level filter for manufacturer origin, and an input box for the rank selector. To see the top 8 worldwide manufacturers, enter 8 in the rank selector and do not choose a manufacturer origin, as shown in Figure 1.68.



Figure 1.68: Invoice Analysis

What if some of your colleagues have asked to see additional summary statistics for manufacturer invoices on the Invoice Analysis page? A box plot seems like the best option to add the information that they want. We can add a new box plot to the report and then associate the roles, set properties, and add a rank to match the bar chart. But in this case, duplicating the bar chart will save many steps.

To begin the duplication process, open the Options menu for the bar chart, select More Options, and then Duplicate, as shown in Figure 1.69.



#### Figure 1.69: Duplicate Option

#### 40 Exploring SAS Viya: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations

A copy of the bar chart is added below the original. All roles and other attributes, including the rank, are included in the new object. To make the two charts side-by-side, select the handle for the new chart and drag it to the right of the original bar chart.

Now, we will change the chart type. In the Bar Chart Options menu, select Change Bar Chart To, and then More, as shown in Figure 1.70. In the Select a New Type window that pops up, select Box Plot.



Figure 1.70: Change Chart Type Options

Now, let's modify some of the options for the Box Plot. Select Options in the rightmost pane, and under General, change the title to Box Plot of Invoices by Make. Under Box Plot, change the direction to horizontal to match the bar chart. Then select the Show Averages check box and, for Outliers, select Show Outliers, as shown in Figure 1.71. Under Y Axis options, clear the Axis Label check box.

#### Figure 1.71: Options Pane



Close the Options pane by clicking outside of it. Let's look at the top 4 worldwide manufacturers. Enter the number 4 in the Rank Selector box, and both charts are updated, as shown in Figure 1.72.



Figure 1.72: Modified Invoice Analysis Page

As you can see, the box plot gives much more information about the invoices for each manufacturer. The vertical line in each box represents the median, and the diamond represents the average. For most makes, the average value is greater than the median. If you place the mouse on the diamond in the Mercedes-Benz box, you will see a pop-up data tip with a lot of information about invoices for this manufacturer. For Cadillac, it is easy to see that the average is close to the median, but there are 2 outliers: one greater than and one less than the expected values. Another interesting make is Porsche.

Porsche is the manufacturer with the highest overall average, but that is due to one outlier that pulls the average higher than expected. Let's see what model is the outlier for Porsche. Double-click the Porsche bar in the bar chart on the left. This opens the Invoice Details page, as shown in Figure 1.73. In the list table, we see that the model is the 911 GT2 2dr.



	alytics - "EDU Cars Report		Search D 8 Ja
Invoi	ice Analysis • Invoice Details •	+	70 50
Select a N	Vanufacturer Origin Rank sel	lector (3-12):	
Asia	Europe USA 4		
		Drop a data item or control to create a page pr	rompt
			(
Detail Inv	voice by Model		
Make	Model	Invoice 🔺	
Porsche	Boxster convertible 2dr	\$37,886	
Porsche	Boxster S convertible 2dr	\$45,766	
D I.	Cayenne S	\$49,865	
Porsche			
Porsche	911 Targa coupe 2dr	\$67,128	
Porsche Porsche	911 Targa coupe 2dr 911 Carrera convertible 2dr (coupe)	\$67,128 \$69,229	
Porsche Porsche Porsche	911 Targa coupe 2dr 911 Carrera convertible 2dr (coupe) 911 Carrera 4S coupe 2dr (convert)	\$67,128 \$69,229 \$72,206	
Porsche Porsche Porsche Porsche	911 Targa coupe 2dr 911 Carrera convertible 2dr (coupe) 911 Carrera 4S coupe 2dr (convert) 911 GT2 2dr	\$67,128 \$69,229 \$72,206 \$173,560	
Porsche Porsche Porsche Porsche	911 Targa coupe 2dr 911 Carrera convertible 2dr (coupe) 911 Carrera 4S coupe 2dr (convert) 911 GT2 2dr	\$67,128 \$69,229 \$72,206 \$173,560 \$	
Porsche Porsche Porsche Porsche	911 Targa coupe 2dr 911 Carrera convertible 2dr (coupe) 911 Carrera 45 coupe 2dr (convert) 911 GT2 2dr	567,128 569,229 572,206 \$173,560	
Porsche Porsche Porsche Porsche	911 Targa coupe 2dr 911 Carrera convertible 2dr (coupe) 911 Carrera 45 coupe 2dr (convert) 911 GT2 2dr	\$67,128 \$69,229 \$72,206 \$173,560 \$4	
Porsche Porsche Porsche Porsche	911 Targa coupe 2dr 911 Carrera convertible 2dr (coupe) 911 Carrera 45 coupe 2dr (convert) 911 GT2 2dr	\$67,128 \$69,229 \$72,206 \$173,560 \$	
Porsche Porsche Porsche Porsche	911 Targa coupe 2dr 911 Carrera convertible 2dr (coupe) 911 Carrera 45 coupe 2dr (convert) 911 GT2 2dr	\$07,128 \$09,229 \$72,206 \$173,560	
Porsche Porsche Porsche Porsche	911 Targa coupe 2dr 911 Carrera convertible 2dr (coupe) 911 Carrera 45 coupe 2dr (convert) 911 GTz 2dr	\$07,128 \$69,229 \$72,206 \$173,560 \$	

### **Resources**

This chapter is based on the "SAS Visual Analytics on SAS Viya" videos in <u>SAS® Viya® Enablement</u>, a free course available from SAS Education.

You might find the following documentation and resources helpful as you learn more about programming in SAS Visual Analytics:

- SAS Visual Analytics documentation
- Insight Toy sample data available to download in SAS Visual Analytics 8.1 documentation
- SAS Visual Analytics 8.3: Programming Guide
- <u>SAS Technical Papers</u>
- <u>SAS Viya training courses</u> from SAS Education
- <u>SAS Visual Analytics Communities</u>
- <u>An Introduction to SAS<sup>®</sup> Visual Analytics: How to Explore Numbers, Design Reports, and Gain</u> <u>Insight into Your Data</u> by Tricia Aanderud, Rob Collum, and Ryan Kumpfmiller

# **Chapter 2: SAS Visual Statistics**

Introduction	43
Getting Started with SAS Visual Statistics	43
Clustering Model	45
Parallel Coordinates Plot	
Cluster Matrix	
Actions	
Decision Tree Model	
Model Assessment Visualizations	
Actions	
Logistic Regression Model	
Missing Values	
Model Assessment Visualizations	
Group-by Role	
Actions	
Resources	59

# Introduction

SAS Visual Statistics 8.2 on SAS Viya is a web-based solution designed for statisticians, data scientists, and business analysts who want to interact with and analyze complex data visually and instantly. The easy-to-use drag-and-drop interface enables you to create descriptive and predictive models on data of almost any size, without the need to write code. The new HTML5-based interface makes it easier than ever to combine data discovery, predictive modeling, and interactive reporting.

SAS Visual Statistics runs on SAS Viya, the innovative, open platform that is designed for any analytical challenge. SAS Viya maximizes parallelization and distribution of analytical workloads to give you high-impact insights faster. This new engine provides nearly instantaneous results and enables multiple users to have concurrent access to the same in-memory data, with no conflict.

SAS Visual Statistics is an integrated add-on to SAS Visual Analytics. Combining the two products gives you a single, fast environment for interactive data exploration and model development. With Visual Statistics, you use statistical or machine learning to do the following:

- Recognize patterns and assess likely outcomes
- Shorten model development time by taking advantage of group-by refinement
- Identify meaningful segments of your data
- Assess model performance by establishing training and validation partitions

## **Getting Started with SAS Visual Statistics**

There are two ways to get started working in SAS Visual Statistics. From the SAS Home page, you can select the Explore and Visualize Data tile in the main window. Or, if you are using another SAS Viya application, you can click the application menu bar in the upper left-hand corner. Then, using the side menu, click Explore and Visualize Data, as shown in Figure 2.1.

•		•	••					
≡ sase Hom Welcon	• el							Search
	Home	ĸ	•			0		*
Click the banner to	View Reports		Add application short hore	cuts or cor	itent tiles to your	Content tiles can re	ference folder content.	Join a S/
								https
🖻 Browse								
	Manage Data							
	Prepare Data		Explore and		1	Manage	: Manage	Ma
Manage	Organize Data Projects		Visualize Data		Build Models	Models	Decisions	Wor
	Explore and Visualize Data		8					
Mana	Build Models							
Them	Manage Models							
	Manage Decisions							
Recent	Explore Lineage	worites		-	Links	:		
	Manage Workflows		θ					
	Manage Environment		Add Favorites		Add L	inks		
	Monitor Jobs							
	Manage Themes							

Figure 2.1: SAS Home Page and Application Menu Bar

Some of the features within the SAS Visual Statistics interface that make it easy for you to build your models are shown in Figure 2.2.





- The Application Bar provides access to the Home Page and other SAS Applications.
- The Menu Bar offers common tasks, such as creating pages, undo, and redo.
- The Left Pane enables you to work with your data and select your model object type.
- The Canvas is the workspace for building one or more models.
- The **Right Pane** enables you to set model roles, options, and filters.

After you add a data source, you can access the SAS Visual Statistics models from the Objects pane accessed from the left pane. Simply double-click or drag and drop the model of your choice onto the canvas to get started.

### **Clustering Model**

In this section, you will learn how to use SAS Visual Statistics to build a customer segmentation model. We will use the clustering model within SAS Visual Statistics to perform data-driven segmentation. In this example, we will use telecommunications customer attrition data.

Suppose we want to understand a little more about the telecommunication customer accounts, based on tenure and the lifetime value of the accounts, as well as the estimated age and house value of the area where an account holder lives. We then want to segment customers on the basis of this information.

Once you have loaded your data, you will create a new clustering visualization. Click the Objects option in the far-left pane. From the SAS Visual Statistics category, click Cluster, and drag it into the canvas area. Then, in the far-right pane, click Roles. Assign the following four attributes to the analysis, as shown in Figure 2.3: Account Tenure, Census Area Median Age, Census Area Median Home Value, and Lifetime Value. Click OK.



#### Figure 2.3: Add Variables

SAS Visual Statistics uses a *K*-means clustering approach. By default, it generates five segments. The output in the canvas area is shown in Figure 2.4.



#### Figure 2.4: Cluster Results

## **Parallel Coordinates Plot**

The visualization at the bottom of Figure 2.4 is a parallel coordinates plot. It shows the five cluster IDs that were generated as the output of the clustering analysis. On the left vertical line and across the top horizontal line, we are looking at the attributes for Census Area Median Age, Census Area Median Home Value, Lifetime Value of the Account, and Account Tenure.

If you want to explore each of the segments, simply click one of the cluster IDs on the left, and it will isolate that segment, as shown in Figure 2.5.





In Figure 2.5, we see cluster 2, or segment 2. We can see that the estimated age of the account holders was high, and the estimated home value of the account holders was low. The accounts were relatively new, according to Account Tenure, and had low lifetime value.

Now, let's look at a different segment or cluster. Click Cluster ID 1 in the left vertical bar to see the visualization shown in Figure 2.6.





Here we see a different story. Compared with segment 2, these account holders were estimated to be younger and with higher house values. Their account tenure was longer. Therefore, the lifetime value of these accounts was higher. It looks like this is a good subset of loyal customers of high account value. The next step could be a study of this subset to avoid "churning."

If you want to compare patterns across segments, simply hold down the Ctrl key and click to select the previous cluster, as shown in Figure 2.7.



#### Figure 2.7: Cluster ID 1 and Cluster ID 2 Segments

You can see that, by using the clustering analysis, we can quickly identify meaningful customer segmentations.

# **Cluster Matrix**

To go further in our analysis, we can move over to the cluster matrix, which was the top visualization in the original report. The cluster matrix gives us an expanded view through visualization, as shown in Figure 2.8. We can see how much overlap we have between the clusters for each pair of the four attributes that we folded into the analysis.





# Actions

Next, let's explore how we can take action on the results of this analysis. By clicking the drop-down button in the upper right corner of the canvas, you are given several options, as shown in Figure 2.9.



### Figure 2.9: Cluster Actions

### **Export Model**

Clicking Export Model will export the auto-generated score code of this analysis as a SAS DATA step. You could run the score code in real time to allocate new customers to one of the five segments in accordance with their census and account values.

### **Derive Cluster ID Items**

In addition to exporting score code, you can derive a cluster ID variable by clicking on Derive Cluster ID Items. SAS Visual Statistics generates a new Cluster ID column that assigns each customer to one of the five segments. This will add a new column to your data, which you can see if you look at the Data Option in the far-left panel. You can then use this column in a subsequent analysis to compare attrition rates across the five customer segments, as shown in Figure 2.10. This capability is very valuable because it enables you to enrich your existing data set with new information.



#### Figure 2.10: Cluster ID Frequency Bar Chart

# **Decision Tree Model**

In this section, we will learn how to use SAS Visual Statistics to build a decision tree model to study telecommunication customer data. In this example, we will identify important attributes that are related to whether customers of a telecom company cancel their service or close their account. This kind of behavior is often called *churn* or *attrition*.

First, we will create a new decision tree visualization once your data is loaded. Click Objects in the far-left pane. Under SAS Visual Statistics, choose Decision Tree and drag it into the center canvas. In the far-right pane, open the Roles panel. The target variable of the decision tree analysis is the Churn Flag. It is a binary variable that indicates whether the account is active or closed. Under Response, click Add and choose Churn Flag.

Next, we will select the attributes that we want to add to our analysis. Under Predictors, click Add, and choose all variables between MB Data Usage 1 Mth Prior and Own Samsung, as shown in Figure 2.11. These attributes are mainly related to recent account activity, such as data usage and minutes, recent calls to the care center and tech support, complaints, open work orders, and so on. Click OK.

:1				5	(71	
Page 4 : +		Add Data Items				
Decision Tree Example Data Observations Used 0 U Tree () The required roles have not been assign	Variable Importance Example 2 Example 3 () The require 15 () The require 15 () The require 15 () The require 15 () The require	Pumber Calls Care Center     Pumber Calls Care Center     Number Calls Care Center     Number Calls Tech Support     Number Calls Tech Support     Number of Data Records     Pumber Calls Tech Support Carls     Porcentie      Pumber Calls Care Content     Oven Apple     Oven Apple     Oven Attached     Oven Notice     Oven Notice     Porcentile      Percentile	ata Roles Decision Tree 1 Response M Chum Fleg Predictors* > + Add Partition ID + Add			•

#### Figure 2.11: Add Predictors

Notice that SAS Visual Statistics quickly grows and prunes a decision tree. It also identifies which attributes are important in general and which attributes are not important to customer churn. The results are shown in the canvas in Figure 2.12.



Figure 2.12: Decision Tree Results

You can click and press on the decision tree to move it around. Let's zoom in and look at the first node in the decision tree in Figure 2.13. This node represents all the data.



Figure 2.13: Decision Tree Node 0 Detail

Approximately 4% of the customers canceled their service. The attribute that was most important in partitioning the data was Number Calls Cares Center. We can see that, if a customer has never called the Care Center, then he or she is unlikely to cancel service. The churn rate is actually 0%.

In contrast, 2,960 customers had at least one call to the Care Center, and the average churn rate is 79.53%. This is why the predictor Number Calls Care Center was selected as the most important attribute of customer churn. It separates a large portion of customers who were unlikely to cancel service from a relatively small subset of customers who had a 79.53% likelihood of canceling service.

SAS Visual Statistics uses the C4.5 algorithm and the information gain criterion to select the attribute that is used to split the data recursively and then build a decision tree.

Now let's zoom out and look at the entire decision tree and hover over Node 4, as shown in Figure 2.14.



Figure 2.14: Decision Tree Node 4 Detail

Node 4 contains 2,231 canceled accounts and no active accounts. These observations have Number Calls Care Center equal to or greater than 1, but recent 3-month average number of calls less than 0.4. This might indicate a subgroup of unhappy customers with relatively long account age. The decision tree tells us that these types of customers have all canceled their service.

In general, we can see that the decision tree model helps us segment the customers into subgroups, each with a different likelihood of churn. We can also see that for each customer subgroup, the decision tree provides a business rule to help us characterize the group.

### **Model Assessment Visualizations**

If you want to go further in your analysis, SAS Visual Statistics provides several model assessment visualizations, such as the Lift chart, the ROC curve, and the Misclassification chart. To view any of these visualizations that are not already included in the report, right-click a chart, and then choose other visualizations from the drop-down list, as shown in Figure 2.15.

#### Figure 2.15: Options Menu



### **Misclassification Chart**

Click Misclassification in the drop-down menu to replace the Lift chart with the Misclassification chart. The Misclassification chart enables you to evaluate the quality of your model, because you can see how many observations the model is correctly and incorrectly predicting, as shown in Figure 2.16.

Figure 2.16: Misclassification chart



## Variable Importance Plot

The Variable Importance plot ranks the attributes on the basis of their contribution to the splits in the entire tree. If an attribute is used in an earlier split, it contributes more to the target variable. In this example, Number Calls Care Center and Number Calls Care Center 3 Month Avg are the two most important variables, as shown in Figure 2.17.

#### Figure 2.17: Variable Importance Plot



### Actions

How do we take action on this decision tree? There are a couple of ways. Click the drop-down button in the upper right corner of the canvas to see all actions, as shown in Figure 2.18.





### **Export Model**

Clicking Export Model will export the score code. The *score code* is a SAS DATA step that represents the decision tree model. You can take the intelligence of this tree and use it to score a new customer, identify the possibility of churn for that customer, and deliver that information to your peers in marketing.

### **Export Data**

Clicking Export Data will export the model as a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet.

### **Derive a Leaf ID Variable**

The Leaf ID variable assigns each customer to one of the terminal nodes in the decision tree. Clicking Derive a Leaf ID Variable automatically generates this variable without copying the data, and you can use it in further data analysis or in a business report.

# **Logistic Regression Model**

In this section, you will learn how to use SAS Visual Statistics to build a logistic regression model to analyze customer churn data. We will use the model to explore what drives customers of a telecommunications company to cancel their services and leave for competitors.

After you have loaded the data, we will create a new logistic regression. Click Objects in the far-left pane. Under SAS Visual Statistics, choose Logistic Regression, and drag it into the center canvas. In the far-right pane, open the Roles panel. The target variable of the logistic regression analysis is Churn Flag. It is a binary variable that indicates whether a customer has canceled service. Under Response, click Add and choose Churn Flag.

Next, we will select certain attributes that we want to add into the analysis. Under Continuous Effects, click Add. Choose all variables between MB Data Usage 1 Mth Prior and Own Samsung. These selected attributes listed in the Add Data Items menu are mainly related to the recent status of the account. For example, does the

customer have a data plan, and what is the recent data usage? Are there any calls to the customer care center and tech support center? Are there any open complaints or work orders?

We also want to find out whether certain regions have a higher percentage of customer churn than others. Under Classification Effects, click Add and choose Account Region.

The completed model is shown in Figure 2.19.



#### Figure 2.19: Logistic Regression Results

The first visualization on the left is the Variable Importance plot, or Fit Summary. This plot displays the negative log value of each variable's *p*-value. A Green bar indicates that the predictor is significantly related to customer attrition. Blue bars indicate insignificant predictors with a *p*-value greater than 0.05.

The output in Figure 2.19 also includes a Residual Plot for model diagnosis. This plot enables you to quickly identify any possible outliers in the analysis. You can right-click the statistic name as shown in Figure 2.20 to switch to other types of residuals, such as Deviance Residual, Pearson Residual, and Standardized Pearson Residual.



#### Figure 2.20: Options Menu

### **Missing Values**

We see that a large portion of observations (41,785) are unused because of missing values. This Unused number is located in the upper left corner of the canvas. SAS Visual Statistics provides a convenient way to handle missing values in a regression model.

Choose Options from the far-right pane. Under the Logistic Regression Section, under General, click the check box to turn on Informative Missingness to automatically impute missing values and create the missing value flags, as shown in Figure 2.21.



Figure 2.21: Modified Logistic Regression Results with Imputed Missing Values

## **Model Assessment Visualizations**

If you want to go further in your analysis, SAS Visual Statistics provides several model assessment visualizations, such as the Lift chart, the ROC curve, and the Misclassification chart. Right-click the Lift chart to view other options and change the chart type.

### **Misclassification Chart**

The Misclassification chart enables you to evaluate the quality of your model, because you can see how many observations the model is correctly and incorrectly predicting, as shown in Figure 2.22. From the Misclassification Rate outlined in an orange box in Figure 2.22, we can conclude that we have a good model.





# **Group-by Role**

Next, let's look at a powerful feature in SAS Visual Statistics: the ability to assign attributes to a group-by role. This means that, rather than building one regression model on the entire audience, you can build multiple regression models based on an attribute that you assign to this group-by role.

Let's look at how to do so in SAS Visual Statistics. In the Roles option in the far-right pane, move the variable named Account Region from the Classification effects list to the Group-by list. Select Account Region from the Classification effects category and drag it downward to the Group-by category, as shown in Figure 2.23.

#### Figure 2.23: Roles Pane



As you select it and assign it to the group-by role, SAS Visual Statistics very efficiently creates nine unique regression models for each particular region, as shown in the Fit Summary plot in Figure 2.24.



Figure 2.24: Modified Logistic Regression Results with Group-By Categories

So what is happening here in the lower-left plot? We have built a model for accounts from Great Lakes, accounts from Greater Texas, and so on. You can see how the variables contribute differently to each model in this heat map. For example, Number Calls Care Center is a significant attrition factor for only four of the customer regions, including Mid Atlantic, Pacific, South, and Great Lakes.

## Actions

Now, suppose that we are happy with this analysis. How can we take action on this model? We have some options. Click on the drop-down button in the upper right corner of the canvas to see all actions, as shown in Figure 2.25.



Figure 2.25: Logistic Regression Actions

### **Export Model**

First, we could export the score code. If you click the Export Model option, SAS Visual Statistics autogenerates the score code, and you can use that code to score a new data set in Base SAS or SAS Studio.

### **Derive Predicted Value**

You can also derive predicted values from the model and use them directly in a Visual Analytics report.

#### **Export Data**

You can export model summary tables as Microsoft Excel files.

### Resources

This chapter is based on the "SAS Visual Analytics on SAS Viya" videos in <u>SAS<sup>®</sup> Viya<sup>®</sup> Enablement</u>, a free course available from SAS Education.

You might find the following documentation helpful as you learn more about programming in SAS Visual Statistics:

- <u>SAS Visual Analytics Documentation home</u>
- <u>SAS Visual Statistics Documentation home</u>
- <u>SAS® Visual Statistics in SAS® Viya®: Interactive Model Building</u> course from SAS Education
- <u>SAS Visual Analytics Communities</u>

# **Chapter 3: SAS Visual Text Analytics**

Introduction	61
Batch Score a Topic Model	61
Open a Project	61
View Data Source	
View Pipeline	
Download Score Code	64
Import and Load Scoring Data	64
Scoring Data	
Create Custom Concepts	67
View a Pipeline	67
View Custom Concepts	
Create Custom Concepts	
Explore Category Output Data Interactively	71
View Category Output	
Save Output Data	
Explore in SAS Visual Analytics	74
Resources	79

## Introduction

SAS Visual Text Analytics is a web-based text analytics application that combines text mining, contextual extraction, categorization, and sentiment analysis.

SAS Visual Text Analytics analyzes large volumes of unstructured data, using predefined templates, machine learning methods, and natural language processing (NLP), to produce deeper insights from more data, faster than ever before. This software combines text mining, contextual extraction, categorization, sentiment analysis, and search within a modern and flexible framework. An end-to-end visual pipeline makes it easy to prepare data, visually explore topics in SAS Visual Analytics, extract entities and facts, analyze sentiment, build text models, and deploy models within existing systems or processes.

### **Batch Score a Topic Model**

In this section, we will learn how to use the SAS Visual Text Analytics topics model to score external text data in SAS Model Studio and SAS Studio. This functionality enables you to discover the themes or topics that are found in your document collection.

# **Open a Project**

Let's start in SAS Model Studio. In this example, we will begin by opening an existing SAS Model Studio project named GF\_Movie, as shown in Figure 3.1.



#### Figure 3.1: SAS Model Studio Home Page

By default, the Data Attributes window appears, as shown in Figure 3.2. The data source is shown in the upper right corner. In this example, the data source is a Cloud Analytics Services (CAS) data table called MOVIES\_PLUS. The variables of interest are uniqueid (system-generated ID variable), overview (movie review text variable), and Made\_Money (binary categorical variable).

#### Figure 3.2: Data Attributes Window

=	Model Studio - Build Models		Search	🔎 🕘 😗 sasdemo 🔻
5	GF_Movie			
	Data Pipelines			
Ø	litter	la	Data	source > Public.MOVIES_PLUS Ø
	Variable Name	Type	Role	Display Variable B:
0	uniqueid	Numeric	Key	Yes
0	overview	Character	Text	Yes
0	Made_Money	Character	Category	Yes
0	id	Numeric		No
	title	Character		Yes
0	budget	Character		No
	revenue	Numeric		No
	release_date	Character		No

### **View Data Source**

Click the Data button, which is the second button on the right, next to the search filter box, as shown in Figure 3.3. Notice that the first few rows of the MOVIES\_PLUS data appear.

#### Figure 3.3: Sample Data Rows

Model Studio - Build	Models					Search	р 🖲 😗 🚥	sdemo 🖣
Data Pipelines								
Ø Filter		R				Data source	• > Public.MOVIES_PLUS	0 :
Made_Money	id	title	overview	budget	revenue	release_date	uniquei	id_ 8
Yes	1571	Live Free or Die Hard	John McClane is back and badder than ever, and this time he's	11000000	38000000	6/21/2007		102
Yes	1572	Die Hard: With a Vengeance	New York detective John McClane is back and kicking bad-guy butt in	9000000	361212499	5/18/1995		202
Yes	1573	Die Hard 2	John McClane is an off- duty cop gripped with a feeling of déjà vu whe	7000000	240031094	7/3/1990		302
Yes	1574	Chicago	Murderesses Velma Kelly (a chanteuse and tease who killed her husban	45000000	306776732	12/27/2002		402
Yes	1\$76	Resident Evil	When a virus leaks from a top-secret facility, turning all resident	33000000	102441078	3/15/2002		502
No	1\$77	Resident Evil: Apocalypse	As the city is locked down under quarantine, Alice joins a small ban	45000000	0	9/10/2004		602
Yes	1578	Raging Bull	An emotionally self- destructive boxer's journey through life, as	18000000	23000000	11/14/1980		702
Yes	1579	Apocalypto	Set in the Mayan civilization, when a man's idyllic presence is	40000000	120175290	12/8/2006		802
Yes	1581	The Holiday	Stuck in a vicious cycle of dead-end relationships with two-timing men, L	85000000	194168700	12/8/2006		902
Yes	1584	School of Rock	Fired from his band and hard up for cash, guitarist and vocalist Dewey Fin	35000000	131282949	10/3/2003	1	002

# **View Pipeline**

To view the pipeline, select the Pipeline tab from the top left of the window, and then select Default Text Analytics Pipeline from the tab that appears beneath it. Pipelines are structured flows of analytic actions. These analytic actions are represented as individual nodes in a pipeline.

One of the nodes in the Default Text Analytics Pipeline is Topics. This node groups similar documents into related themes, or topics, by using a machine learning algorithm. Click the Topics node. Notice that the default settings for the node appear to the right, as shown in Figure 3.4.

Model Studio - Build Models		Search	0 © 0	sasdemo
Data Pipelines +		Topics	R	® 8
	Concepts O :	Description:     Assigns document     Assigns document	ts to topics. / Ily determine number	of
	Name: Topics Group: Petraetion Seture: Successful Description: Assigns documents to topics.	25 Term density: 0 Document density: 1	, 5	10
	Categories O :	0	5	10

#### Figure 3.4: Pipeline Tab

To view and interact with system-generated topics, right-click the Topics node and select Open from the dropdown menu. Doing so opens the interactive Topics window. The interactive Topics window displays all the topics that SAS Visual Text Analytics identified, as shown in the upper-left quadrant of Figure 3.5. The default name of a topic is the top five most relevant terms for that topic.

#### 64 Exploring SAS Viya: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations

Model Studio - Build Models					Search	Q	0	sasdemo 🔻
GF Movie > Topics							Þ	Close
Topics 🕐	9 <b>6</b> 9	Te	erms (1111)					
Topie	Documents 18	0	All Matched					0 12 3
+year, +discover, +killer, +young, +death	360		Term	Relevancy	Role	Documents		Frequency 8
+world, +planet, earth, +race, +crew	376	c	) > band	1.000	N	35		47
) +father, +son, 's, +child, +family	369	C	james bond	1.000	nlpPerson	22		25
) +man, +story, twe, love, +woman	369	C	940/41	1.000	A	39		40
) +friend, +good, +beet friend, love, town	364	C	) > agent	1.000	N	101		117
) police, +cop, +officer, +orime, +drug	262	1						
) not, +go, no, +thing, +see	352							
) +film, +base, +star, +story, same	291							
) +bond, james, james bond, +agent, bond	260							
) ip, +an, man, kung fu, dun	249							
) york, new, new york, city, new york city	216							
3 +bond, james bond, +agent, secret	159							
Socriments 10 All Masheal overview						Relevancy	ill (	) 80 (D Mede 81
forts and discover secret hideaways.						0.964	Θ	N
battle with a secret society. The shapely archaeologist moonlights as a tomb raider to recover l	ost artiquities and meets her match in the evil Powell, who	5 in 5	earch of a powerful relic.			0.954	٠	Ye
						0.945	Θ	Ye
egent Gabriel Shear is determined to get his mitts on \$9 billion stashed in a secret Drug Enfo Jobson, a n'er-do-well encryption expert who can log into anything.	coment Administration account. He wants the cash to fight	terror	em, but lacks the computer skills	a necessary to hack into	the government mainframe. Enter Stanley	0.964	•	N
beasties at a secret location. Malcolm, his paleontologist ladylove and a wildlife videographer	join an expedition to document the lethal lizards' natural l	etai	or in this action-packed thriller.			0.939		Ye
Decument 1 of 159								

#### Figure 3.5: Topics Window

Examine the system-generated topics. The ability to create user-defined topics from user-specified terms is a new feature in SAS Visual Text Analytics. In addition, you can merge two or more topics, or split a topic if its definition is too broad. For each selected topic, you can also view the matched terms in the upper-right quadrant of the window. The matched terms within the matched document, the relevancy score, and the sentiment classification are all shown in the bottom half of the window.

Close the Topics output window by clicking the Close button in the upper-right corner. You are returned to the pipeline.

## **Download Score Code**

Let's download the score code from the Topics node. Right-click the Topics node in the pipeline, and select Download score code from the drop-down menu. The score code is downloaded as a zip file named TopicScoreCode(2) and is stored in the default download folder.

### Import and Load Scoring Data

The first step in scoring an external text data file in SAS Studio is to import and load the scoring data, moving scoring train, into the caslib.

Open SAS Data Explorer by clicking the three horizontal bars in the upper-left corner of the screen, and then select Manage Data. Select the Import tab from the panel on the left, and then select Local File. Navigate to the data file and click Open.

Specify the target table name movies\_scoring\_train, as shown in Figure 3.6. For the target destination, select the default library: cas.shared.default/Public. Click Import Item.

SAS® Data Explorer - Manage Data	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				Search	0 0 Q	sasdemo 🔻
SASª Data Explorer - Manage Data       Available     Data Sources       Import (1)     •       moviet_scoring_train.sas7bdat     •	movies_scoring_train.sas7bdat      Targettable name: *     movies_scoring_train      ftargettable name exists:         Cancel impost	Tarpet destination: * cas-shared-default/Public	ð I	Find	Search	p 🕑 🥹	sasdemo ▼ Import All
	Pils Specifications Patanend: Enter password Enter password Enter password Character multiplier: 2 Character multiplier: 2						
🛋 TopicScoreCode (2).zip 🔿						Sho	w all X

Figure 3.6: SAS Data Explorer Import Data Tab

A note with a green check mark appears, indicating that the local data was successfully imported as a CAS table. Now we are ready to score the external data in SAS Studio.

# **Scoring Data**

Unzip the previously saved score code that you downloaded in a previous step as TopicScoreCode(2).zip. Open the file scorecode.sas in a text editor such as TextPad or Notepad, and copy the contents of scorecode.sas to the clipboard, as shown in Figure 3.7.

Find account Sector       Very Tools Macros Configure Window Help         Conserved Sector       V       Secretion with the second sector         Secretion with the second sector       V       Secretion sector         Very Tools Macros Configure Window Help       Very Tools Macros Configure Window Help         Conserved Sector       V       Secretion sector         Very Tools Macros Configure Window Help       Very Tools Macros Configure Window Help         Conserved Sector       Very Tools Macros Configure Window Help         Conserved Sector       Very Tools Macros Configure Window Help         Sector Code as       Sector Code         * Topics Socre Code       *         * Modify the following macro variables to match your needs.         * The input_astore_mame variable should have already been         * set to the location of the astore binary table for the         * associated 354 Visual Text Analytics project.         /* NOTE: The text variable on the input table must match the text variable name that was used to train the astore. */         /* text caslib name=* (put_your_input_caslib_mame_here)*:         /* text caslib_mame are "(put_your_input_caslib_mame_here)*:         /* text caslib_mame = * "(put_your_unput_caslibe to produce */         Viet input_documentsid match the project_ifS06b8d-3fa9-4ced-a8ae-a0aeb2falie?*;         /* the caslib for astore table you would like to	TextPad - D: WIAdemodata (Score)	recoresas	
Image: The set of the se	File Ent Search View Tools	Macros Configure Window Help	
<pre>Document/Sector 9 × SectOde.as × SectOde.as SectOd</pre>	i 🗅 🥔 🔛 🗐 🖨 🖪 📓 🐰 🛛	🗈 🔞 💭 🖓 📲 📲 🚍 👖 🥥 ザ 💁 🐼 🖉 👁 🖉 🖓 🖕 🐽 🕨 🖕 Find incrementally 🛛 🕴 🗋 Match case 🖕	
<pre>ScoreCodeses</pre>	Document Selector 🛛 🖗 🗙	StoreCode.sss ×	÷×
	ScoreCode and	<pre>* SAS Visual Text Analytics * Topic Score Code * * Modify the following macro variables to match your needs. * The input_astore_name variable should have already been * ast to the location of the astore binary table for the * associated SAS Visubl Text Analytics project. //* NOTE: The text variable on the input table must match the text variable name that was used to train the astore. */ /* NOTE: The text variable on the input table must match the text variable name that was used to train the astore. */ /* casilbrary information for cas table containing the data set you would like to score */ %let casilb name="(put_your_input_casilb_name_here)"; /* the cas table you would like to score */ * NOTE: The text variable on the input table must match the name and type of the text variable that was used when the astore '/ * NOTE: The text variable on the input table must match the name and type used when the astore was created. */ * NOTE: The text variable on the input table must match the name and type used when the astore was created. */ * NOTE: The document id variable on the input table nume_here)"; /* casilbrary information for ourguit cas tables to produce */ *let output_casilb_name = "[put_your_output_casilb_name_here]"; /* the topics output cas table to produce */ *let output_documents_table_name = "_ouu_documents"; /* the casilb for affore table you would like to score */ *let input_astore_casilb_name = "Analytics_Project_1500@bdd-3fa9-4ced-affae-a0aeb2fa14e7";</pre>	Vaa Vaa
Report Aron Andre Int	🔁 Explo 🖅 Docu 🥢 Cip U		1/1

Select all text and hit CTRL+C or choose copy.

Start SAS Studio. Open the code window, and paste the contents of ScoreCode.sas from the clipboard to the window. To view a partial list of the scored output table, let's append the score code with a PROC CAS step to view 40 rows of the output table, as shown in Figure 3.8.

#### Figure 3.8: SAS Studio Macro Code

SAS Studio		- @ X
SAS <sup>®</sup> Studio	e d	🖹 📳 🕐 Sign Out
Server Files and Folders	🕼 Program 1 🗴	
12- 意志平田 (5	CODE LOG RESULTS	
Folder Shortouts      Fig. DemoCode      Casuser      Gofficerecode_modified.ass      Gofficerecode_modified.ass      Movies_Topic_Scored2.ashdat      Movies_Topic_Scored2.tashdat      Movies_Topic_Scored2		
> Enome         >           > Eibb         >           > Eibb4         >           > Eibb4         >           > Einedia         >           > Tasks and Utilities         >           > Tasks and Utilities         >	<pre>59 proc cas; table.fetch / table.fetch / table.fetch / table.fetch / to=40; to=40; foto foto foto foto foto foto foto fot</pre>	
Libraries		Line Th Column 1
<ul> <li>File Shortcuts</li> </ul>		Marradar 5 Haar sandama

Before we can submit the SAS code, we need to specify inputs for some of the macro input fields. In the Score Code macro, look for snippets with {put\_your\_input\_caslib\_name\_here} and replace them as follows:

```
%let caslib_name = "PUBLIC";
%let input_table_name = "Movies_Scoring_Train";
%let output_caslib_name = "PUBLIC";
%let output_documents_table_name = "Movies_Topics_scores";
```

Submit the modified code by clicking the running man icon. Check the log to verify that no errors are reported while scoring. Now let's view the results in Figure 3.9.

#### Figure 3.9: Results of ScoreCode.sas

							Task Timing						
					Task		Seconde	Percent					
					LOPO	ing the Store	0.0000479221	4.95534595-6					
					Crea	ong the State	9.1634011269	0.948107595					
				2	Scor	ing	0.5014570167	0.0515572463					
	R						9.664937973	1					
						Resul	te from table feto	a					
											Selected	Rows from Table I	MOVIE S_TOP
Index_	_bieupinu_	_Coll_	_Col2_	_Col3_	Cold	Cold	Cold	_Cel7_	_Col6_	Colb	_Col10_	_Col11_	Coll12
1	1	0.3050616427	0.347464926	0.6941452339	-0.012124071	0.164076187	3 0.119451878	-0.015631838	0.2818793804	-0.061544213	0.4177850473	-0.070702182	0
2	2	0.0393474182	0.1714845795	0.2187542296	0.7239570455	0.325151193	6 0.050795720	0.4154517249	0.0186020535	0.1567156726	0.2754894785	0.0555741537	0
3	3	0.0255676896	0.1282888435	0.2231824838	0.4241062763	0.120702933	3 0.151713131	-0.012309655	0.3873246611	0.740475169	-0.004946432	0.0715943345	0
4	4	0.1184315047	-0.004241628	0.0991404369	-0.108026098	0.118769570	0.318055864	0.0430118897	0.8641360893	0.1333694477	0.2865735821	0.0264544952	0
5	5	0.3025175797	0.1418256092	0.1964126897	0.0105716532	0.0908271	2 0.063221666	0.0602450116	0.0003550791	0.6759432416	0.6106426871	0.0600331863	0
6	6	0.101244535	0.1516315467	0.9324516965	0.0575226645	0.04964553	6 0.280555322	-0.012633532	0.0612406668	0.0705151794	0.046790929	0.0404406341	0
.7	7	0.3716369967	0.0084152512	0.3411964573	0.1104105848	0.202134103	0.190930959	0.1706079757	0.361225444	0.502820375	0.4879562162	-0.047477706	0
8	8	-0.024580053	0.1889233893	0.2913175325	0.460406165	0.265951631	3 0.142326311	-0.064315565	0.0441297484	0.3413938768	0.1068716313	0.6646555163	0
9	9	0.1391874168	-0.09262165	0.0576624391	0.1724235761	0.362381236	0.553744872	0.1902230894	-0.056667155	0.6332206629	0.2148492182	0.1471026547	0
10	10	0.2359230481	0.2694262579	0.0287286862	0.2381127199	0.159396105	8 0.1040936915	0.2152201484	0.2736623014	0.6187529417	0.5233663518	0.0024245412	0
11	55	0.0755543031	-0.006700975	0.2065551025	0.3422644252	0.27151670	1 0.083045620	0.713190629	0.0559505573	0.3662755641	0.0138266013	0.036439355	0
12	12	0.1895656045	0.2970017353	0.7258905323	0.2296454525	0.292540063	0.319516143	0.20222209	0.0911740445	0.0515393414	0.0536215166	0.1045520365	0
13	13	0.0451410675	0.529162416	0.0449674824	0.7724853085	0.06918723	0.111531104	0.2242760367	0.1642451514	0.136909534	0.0662004605	-0.035543921	0
14	14	0.1297982168	0.2099410519	0.0055594695	0.3365579022	0.209510953	2 0.083474474	0.7562304455	0.1360531754	0.3679282246	0.0509640238	0.2319596251	0
15	15	0.4293098738	0.1405313245	0.219340783	0.0110258797	0.310085835	-0.019601175	0.2972559497	0.7162772122	0.106906501	-0.021383221	-0.119403309	0
16	16	0.2224329812	0.0054151154	0.2908171017	-0.0130595	0.85377365	2 0.063503527-	0.0751969391	0.0375334085	0.1043473015	0.3246091191	0.0972840113	0
17	17	0.2901180421	0.0639091212	0.4887976065	0.0287469166	0.392730754	0.12879265	0.3389611963	0.3310074965	0.5205555395	0.0713907991	0.0167066417	0
18	18	0.0134554535	0.082933744	0.2280968897	0.4472045782	0.07611963	6 0.552229827	0.3097792601	0.3684492154	0.3679608882	0.2462542417	0.0492026792	0
19	19	0.2654077755	0.067637495	0.1276511069	0.2630127836	0.152555647	7. 0.176355534	0.2413475509	0.5660507245	0.563395125	-0.22059395	-0.16457392	0
20	20	0.2660304961	0.5124710932	0.0149949934	0.6603870886	0.162256510	0.0455904	-0.107320572	0.0929001991	0.1318721996	-0.150757691	0.376239163	0
21	21	0.1321520324	0.4145104475	0.1471978336	0.5160114573	0.160444328	0.163843921-	0.104016441	-0.055049057	0.1767952525	0.0054525619	0.6507364564	0
22	22	0.3697667469	-0.064110062	0.1805658254	0.0876286433	0.075399785	0.229752561	0.0553821109	0.2157103194	0.3186345371	0.4965049177	0.6022997016	0
23	23	0.1963546012	0.1440425552	0.9309595647	0.1495297274	0.026734789	13 (	-0.129987395	0.0244544915	0.0403882743	0.1463007265	0.1019572656	0
The output data contain document scores that correspond to each topic. The output data also include the results of binary topic classification scores for each document in the external data.

# **Create Custom Concepts**

In this section, we will learn how to create custom concept rules automatically by using the Concepts nodes in SAS Visual Text Analytics. The Concepts node enables you to identify and extract entities in a document collection by doing one of the following:

- Using up to nine predefined concepts
- Creating additional custom concept rules
- Using a combination of both predefined and custom rules

In addition, when the Concepts node follows the Text Parsing node in the analytic pipeline, the kept textual elements are available in the concept window. This new feature enables analysts to group similar textual elements in the Concepts node window and then use selected textual elements to develop automatic concept rules.

# **View a Pipeline**

We will start in SAS Model Studio and use the existing SAS Model Studio project named GF\_SGF13\_Video, outlined in an orange box in Figure 3.10.

Model Studio - Build Models			S	earch 🔎 🤄 😯 sasdemo 🔻
Projects				
Search D 🔠 🔲	Select all		New Project Ø	Toolbox
SGF13_Video1         segment       sectionent         understand       sectionent         understand       sectionent         understand       sectionent         understand       sectionent         understand       sectionent         understand       sectionent         Constant       sectionent         Modified bit       sectionent         Data source       Ablic SGF 2013_FARE_         Data source       Robic SGF 2013_FARE_	CF_Move down tertiment terms analytics Date modified : An 19, 2018, 437,43 PM Created by: asdemo Data source: Able MOVES_PUE Data source: Able MOVES_PUE Data source: British TexAnalytics	GF_SGP13_Video		<ul> <li>Interface of the set of</li></ul>

Figure 3.10: SAS Model Studio Home Page

Select the project by clicking on it to open it. Notice that the data attributes window appears. Click the Pipelines tab, and then select the previously created pipeline named GF\_Pipeline. By default, SAS Visual Text Analytics provides six text analysis pipeline nodes, as shown in Figure 3.11. These nodes are as follows:

- Data
- Text parsing
- Concepts
- Sentiment
- Topics
- Categories

#### 68 Exploring SAS Viya: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations

The nodes are arranged in a specific sequence that users can control in accordance with their analytic goal. Each node is designed to solve a specific text analytics problem.





The custom pipeline in Figure 3.11 includes a Concepts node, which is placed after the Text Parsing node. If you click a node, you can examine the default settings. For example, if you click the Concepts node, as shown in Figure 3.12, you will notice that in the Concepts pane on the right, the only option you can specify for the Concepts node is whether to include predefined concepts. All nine predefined concepts are included in the analysis and are standardized across all languages.

ß





# **View Custom Concepts**

Right-click the Concepts node, and select Open to view document matches on predefined concepts and to create custom concepts that enable you to extract domain-specific information. In the upper-left of the Concepts node

results window, the nine predefined concepts are displayed, as shown in Figure 3.13. These are concepts whose rules are already written.

		Search		p e		asdemo 🔻
<u>GF_SGF13_Video</u> > Concepts					Þ [	Close
Concepts 🚯 📑 🖉	1 II 🗇 :					
Predefined Concepts (9)						
4 🖿 Custom Concepts (1)						
D SAS_PAPCS		Add or select a concept and enterrules. New Concept				
Textual Elements (1910)	R C ()	Documents (D) Test Sample Test				
Textual Elements 3330	Role E	Documents (D) Test Sample Text All Matched		=	ŝ	E ()
Textual Elements 1999 A	Role B PN B	Documents (1) Test Sample Test All Matched abstract	Busin	🖬	ikt pap	F B
Textual Elements (330) String ^ Sas data	Role E PN D	Documents         Test Sample Text           All         Matched           abstract         MACLIMBA is an in-house-developed application for SASE programming. In combines interacting development features of PC-SAS	Busin	_uniq	pap-	11 () 11 II I
Textual Elements (3)) String ^ 3 asa data > vse	Rele E PN E V	Documents         Test Sample Text           All         Matched           abstract           MACUMBA is an in-house-developed application for SAS® programming. It combines interactive development features of PC-SAS, the possibility of a client-server environment and unique state-of-the-ant features that were always maxing. This presentation covers	Busin	_uniq 101	<b>p</b> +p 009- 2013	1 D
Textual Elements (33) String ^ asta buse buse b	Rele PN V PUNC	Documents         Test Sample Text           Mill         Abstract           MACMUBA is an in-house-developed application for SAS* programming. It combines interactive development features of PC-SAS, the possibility of a client-server environment and unique state-of-the-ant features that were always missing. This presentation covers some of the unique features that are related to SAS code debugging. At the beginning, special code execution modes are	Busin	uniq 101	009- 2011	E () H E
String         A           sass         4           2 data         2           2 vere         5           3 6         2	IE         ⊙           Role         E           PN         E           N         V           PUNC         N	Documents         Test Sample Test           All         Matched           abstract         MACMUBA is an in-house-developed application for SAST programming. It combines interactive development features of PC-SAS, the possibility of a client-server environment and unique trase-of-the-ar-features that were always missing. This presentation covers some of the unique features that are related to SAS code debugging. At the beginning, special code execution modes are           Would you like to produce Yenn dispreme easily? This poster shows how you can produce stunning two- three, and four-way Venn	Busin	uniq uniq	009- 2013	E () Harris III
Textual Elements SDD String A data b vice b paper p new	利用では、 Role 目 PN 日 V PUNC N A	Documents         Test Sample Text           All         Matched           astract         MACUMBA is an in-house-developed application for SAS® programming. It combines interactive development features of PC-SAS, the possibility of a clientserver environment and unique tasts-of-the-art features that are related to SAS code debugging. At the bigming, perceit address where an every missing. This presentation covers some of the unique features that are related to SAS code debugging. At the bigming, perceit address where were always missing. This presentation covers some of the unique features that are related to SAS code debugging. At the bigming, perceit address and four-way Venn diagrams by using the SAS® (caph Template Language, in particular the DRAWICIVAL and DRAWICIVET statements.	Busin No	الله الله الله الله الله الله الله الله	009- 2013 243- 2013	E T
Textual Elements (1)) String ^ 3as data 2 vise 5 e 5 e 2 paper 2 provide	IE         IE           Role         E           PN         E           N         PUNC           N         A           V         V	Documents         Test Sample Text           All         Matched           Abstract         MACUMBA is an in-house-developed application for SASP programming. It combines inseractive development features of PC-SAS, the possibility of a clience-new environment and unique tratect-of-the-ar-features that were always mixing. This presentation covers some of the unique features that are related to SAS code debugging. At the beginning, special code execution modes are           Would you like to produce Venn diagram easily? This poster-shows how you can produce stunning two-three, and four-way Venn diagrams tayling the SASP carge. In particular to BAX/VXL and SASP and the specific code execution modes are	Busin No	الله الله الله الله الله الله الله الله	009- 2013 243- 2013	E O
Textual Elements (3)) String ^  String ^  data data buse buse buse buse buse buse buse buse	Bill         Image: Control of the second secon	Documents     Documents     Documents     Documents     Documents     Test Sample Text     Matched     AddUMSA is an in-house-developed application for SAS® programming. It combines interactive development features of PC-SAS, the possibility of a client-server environment and unique taste-of-bha-ant features that were always mixing. This presentation covers some of the unique features that are related to SAS educe developming. At the beginning, perceil code execution modes are      Would you like to produce Venn diagrams easily This poster shows how you can produce stunning the-three, and four-way Venn diagrams easily This poster shows how you can produce stunning the-three, and four-way Venn diagrams table typically been created in the pharmaceutical industry by using Microsoft Excel and      SAS 94 00S has several new features. Come check out and see new destinations, new style features, and new ways to format your	Busin No	uniq 101	009- 2013 243- 2013 5D4	Here III
Textual Elements (3) Sbling ^ data data b use b speer b new b provide p proc proc	IE         O           Role         II           PN         II           V         PUNC           N         A           V         V           V         V           V         PN	Documents     Documents     Documents     Documents     Test Sample Text     Machael     Machael	Busin No No	uniq 101 102 103	009-2013 243-2013 \$D4 2013	E ()

Figure 3.13: Concepts Window

You cannot rename predefined concepts or view and edit their base rule definitions. However, you can add rules by using the Edit window to modify or extend predefined concept behavior. You can create custom concepts by using custom rules. In addition, you can prioritize which matches are returned when overlapping matches occur.

Let's explore a custom concept that has already been made in the system. In the Custom Concepts category in the upper right, select SAS\_PROCS. When you are naming a custom concept, it is important to follow the custom concept naming guidelines. Valid custom concept names can include numbers, letters, and matched underscores on both sides. It is a good idea to avoid using common terms that could be matched in your document.

The rule definition associated with SAS\_PROCS is a C\_CONCEPT rule, as shown in the edit window of Figure 3.14. This custom concept extracts all SAS PROCs referenced in the abstracts collection.

	Model Studio - Build Models		Search		D O	0	sasdemo 🔻
GF	SGF13 Video > Concepts					Þ	Close
Cond	tepts 🚯 📑 🖉	1 II 0 :	Edit a Concept	3	SAS_PROCS	Ľ	3 : 1
- m - m	Predefined Concepts (9) Custom Concepts (1) SAS_PROCS		1 C_CONCEPT:Proc _c(_w)				
Texto	al Elements (510)	Role B	Code is valid.      Documents      Test Sample Text     All Meglend	1		1	t E 🕐
Texto	string ^	Role I	Code is valid.      Documents ID     Test Sample Text     All Marghed     abstract	Fact Ma	Busines.	1	t E 🔊 _uniqu E
Textu	sas data	Role I PN N	Code is valid.      Documents     Test Sample Text      All Marganel      abstract	Fact Ma	B E	1	t E 💿 uniqu II
Textu	al Elements (STD) String ∧ sas data > use	Role   N V	Code is valid.      Documents     Test Sample Text:      All Margaed     abstract     the parameters. PROC IML was used to generated the Newton-Raphson procedures. The result showed that all main effects and some of the finst-order instruction effects were significant.	Fact Ma	Busines.	- <b>1</b>	t E () uniqu E 902
Texto	sas data b use data	Role   Role  PN  V  PUNC	Code is valid.      Decuments      Test Sample Test     All Margued     abstract     the parameters. PROC IML was used to generated the Newton-Raphson procedures. The result showed that all main effects and     some of the first-order interaction effects were significant.	Fact Ma	Busines.		t E () uniqu IE 902
Texto	tal Elements (53) Stoling ∧ sas data ▷ use ▷ ▷ paper	Role  PN N V PUNC N	Code is valid.     Code is valid.     Test Sample Test     Test Sample Test     Test Sample Test     All Margaed     abstract    the parameters. PROC IML was used to generated the Newton-Raphson procedures. The result showed that all main effects and     some of the first-order interaction effects were significant.    data from PROC IMDE OOS tables, the macro produces a comprehensive table of changes in model fit measures and allows SAS    sets from PROC IMDE OOS tables, the macro produces a comprehensive table of changes in model fit measures and allows SAS	Fact Ma	BusinesN	io	t E () uniqu E 902
Textu	String ^ sas data b use b paper b new	Image         Image <th< td=""><td>Code is valid.      Documents     Test Sample Text      Intercode     Test Sample Text      Intercode     Text Sample Text      Inter</td><td></td><td>BusinesN</td><td></td><td>t E ③ uniqu E 902 1202</td></th<>	Code is valid.      Documents     Test Sample Text      Intercode     Test Sample Text      Intercode     Text Sample Text      Inter		BusinesN		t E ③ uniqu E 902 1202
	Ial Elements (SSD) String A ass data b use b paper b paper b new b provide	Role (* ) PN PN PUNC V PUNC N A V	Code is valid.      Documents     Test Sample Text:      All Merced     abstract     be parameters. PROC IML was used to generated the Newton-Raphson procedures. The result showed that all main effects and     some of the first-order instraction effects were significant.     data from PROC IMMED COS tables, the macro produces a comprehensive table of changes in model fit measures and allows SAS     users to examine model fit in both rested and non-nested models, both in terms of statistical and practical significance without     having to calculate these values by hand.		BusinesN	<b>#</b>	t E () uniqu E 902 1202
Textu	al Elements (SS) String ^ ass data > use > use > paper > paper > provide > provide	IEI         IEI           Role         III           Role         III           N         III           V         IIII           PUNC         IIII           A         IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Code is valid.      Documents     Test Sample Text:      All Many and Annual Annu	Fact Ma     0     0	Busines.	10 10	t (E) () _uniqu B: 902 1202
	al Elements (55) String A ass data b use b paper b new b provide create proc	Role         Image: Control of the second secon	Code is valid.     Documents     Test Sample Test     Test Sample     Test Sample     Test Sample     Test Sa	6 Fact Ma 0 0	Busines. N N	io 10	k (E) (9) uniqu ti 902 1202 1203

Notice the Matched Documents in the Documents window below the edit window. All the SAS PROCs included in the abstracts are highlighted in the documents. If a matched item, matched fact, or overlapping match is discovered, the match is differentiated by certain visual cues.

# **Create Custom Concepts**

Now let's create a custom concept rule automatically by including specific textual elements in the document collection. Select the Custom Concepts folder in the upper left, and then select the New Concept button in the center of the screen. Name the custom concept TEXT CONCEPTS. We are now ready to create a custom concept automatically by selecting the main textual element.

In the Textual Elements window in the bottom left, scroll and select the string "text," as shown in Figure 3.15. Click the Similarity icon to generate the similarity scores related to the string text.

Figure 3.15: Similarity Icon

Model Studio - Build Model			Search	Q	0 0	sasdemo 🔻
<u>GF_SGF13_Video</u> > Concept	ts				۲	Close
Concepts 😗 📑 🎝	8 11 © :	Edit a Concept		TEXT_CONCEP	TS 2	• :
Predefined Concepts (9)     Custom Concepts (2)     SAS_PROCS     TEXT_CONCEPTS		1				
		Code ta valid.				
Textual Elements 1310	<b>5 C</b>	Documents  Test Sample Text				
String	Role Show similarity sco	All Matched			E   #	
□ ▷ program	v	abstract		Fact Ma Busin	nes	uniqu III
studio studio	PN					
Visual	PN					
as well	ADV					
□	V					
more	ADV	No documents	to display. Select a single concept to view			
□ ► regression	N		matches.			
various	A					
□	N				_	
text text	N					

The higher the similarity score, the more likely the string is to appear in the same context as the selected string. In this example, we will select all strings related to text. Then, click the Create Rules from Selected Elements icon.

The SAS Visual Text Analytics Concepts node automatically generates a CONCEPT\_RULE, using all the selected strings, and displays the rule syntax in the Create Rules from Textual Elements window, as shown in Figure 3.16. If necessary, you can select an alternate operator from the drop-down list or modify the system-generated rule definition.

Figure 3.16: Create Rules from Textual Elements Window

elect an operator	and any corresp	onding prop	erties) to ge	nerate a rule. (1)
Or (OR)		•		
ule:		_		
CONCEPT_RUL mining]", "_c(tw edback]", "_c(fe	E:(OR, "_c[text)" rets)", "_c[tweet rdbacks]", "_c[s	',"_c(text)",", i)","_c(sentin entiment)")	_c(mining) nent)","_c(s	',"_c(text Jentiments)","_c(fe

When you are satisfied with the rule definition, click OK. You return to the main Concepts screen, as shown in Figure 3.17. Click the Validate icon rule to validate the new rule syntax.

Figure	3.17:	Validate	Rule S	yntax
--------	-------	----------	--------	-------

	Model Studio - Bui	ld Models			Search		D O	0	sasden	6 4
9	SF SGF13 Video >	Concepts						*	Close	
Cor	ncepts 🕦		17 ()	:	Edit & Concept	TEXT_	CONCEPTS	R	٢	:
-	Predefined Concepts Custom Concepts I SAS_PROCS TEXT_CONCEP	ots (9) (2) TS			<pre>1 CONCEPT_RULE:(OR,"_c(text)","_c(text)","_c(mining)","_c(text mining)","_c(tweets)","_c(tw</pre>	et}","_c{sent	iment}",'	- Val	date rules	3=
Tex	tual Elements (310			0	Validation is out of date.      Documents:      Test Sample Text					
Term	n similarities for "text"			×	All Matched	▲   =		1	: 10	٢
	String ^	Similarity 👻	Role		abstract	Fact Ma	Busines		_uniqu	
0	sentiment	0.811	PN	1						
0	media	0.806	N							
0	negative	0.793	A							
0	> rule-base	0.762	v							
0	applied	0.750	A		No documents to display. Select a single concept to view					
0	classify	0.746	v		mascrea.					
	▶ opinion	0.722	N							
0	▶ summarize	0.718	V							=

If the code can be validated, then the "Validation is out of date" message beneath the edit window will change to "Code is valid."

In the Documents window in the bottom middle of the screen, notice that the Matched tab shows the extracted entities for each document. Now you have seen how the automated concept-rule-writing feature using textual elements in SAS Visual Text Analytics can help simplify concept extraction.

# **Explore Category Output Data Interactively**

In this section, we will learn how to interactively explore category model output data in SAS Visual Text Analytics. A category identifies a group of documents that share a common characteristic. In SAS Visual Text Analytics, categories are generated by the following actions:

- Promoting a topic to a category
- Specifying a category variable while creating a new project
- Creating a new category in the Categories nodes

After generating initial category rules, you can edit the rules for optimal categorization. You can then save and explore the output data generated by the Categories node.

We will demonstrate this in SAS Model Studio with an existing SAS Model Studio project. Select the project named GF\_SGF13\_Video, as shown in Figure 3.18.

Model Studio - Build Models			s	earch 🔎 🔕 🕜 sasdemo 🔻
Projects				
Search D 🔀 🖩 🗆 S	elect all		New Project 🔇	Toolbox
■ SQF13_Video1	OF_Movie         Image: Second Secon	Created by address and the section of the section o		Longeneration     Longene

Figure 3.18: SAS Model Studio Home Page

By default, the data attributes window opens. Click the Pipelines tab. Then, select the previously created pipeline named GF\_Pipeline, as shown in Figure 3.19. SAS Visual Text Analytics provides six text analysis pipeline nodes, arranged in a sequence that you can control. Each of the nodes is designed to solve a specific text analytics problem.





# **View Category Output**

Click the Categories node at the bottom left of the pipeline. Notice that the default settings appear on the right. Let's view the category output. Right-click the Categories node and select Open from the drop-down menu. This will open the Categories window, as shown in Figure 3.20.

#### Figure 3.20: Category Window

≡ Mod	del Studio - Build Models	5	Search		Q		🗿 sasde	mo 🔻
GF SGF	13 Video > Categorie	9				•	Clos	Je .
Categorie	es 😝 📑 🖉	1 II 0 I						
4 🖿 AI C	Categories							
4 🗋 B	lusiness_Analytics							
	No							
D	Yes		Ð					
D +	customer, +sentiment, ter	xt, miner, mining						
	ext_Analytics		Add or select a category and enter rules.					
1			New Category					
		6						
		0						
Textual El	ements (1510	11 12 D	Documents (III) Test Sample Text					
Strin	ng ^	Role B:	All Matched	A	111		<b>R</b> =	(?)
□ s	as	PN 🛙	abstract	Busin	uni	q	paper	
	data	N						1
D > u	ise	V	MALUMBA is an in-house-developed application for SAS® programming. It combines interactive development features of PC-SAS, the possibility of a client-server environment and unique state-of-the-art features that were always missing. This presentation covers	No		101	009- 2013	
0 .	•	PUNC	some of the unique features that are related to SAS code debugging. At the beginning, special code execution modes are					
□ Þ p	paper	N	We fill us the send of Very discussion 2.27% and the send of the send of the send for the Very					
□ Þn	1ew	A	diagrams by using the SAS® Graph Template Language, in particular the DRAWOVAL and DRAWTEXT statements.	No		102	243- 2013	
□ Þp	provide	V	From my experience, Venn diagrams have typically been created in the pharmaceutical industry by using Microsoft Excel and					
	reate	V	SAS 9.4 ODS has several new features. Come check out and see new destinations new style features and new ways to format your	1002			SD406-	
O P	proc	PN	outout. Topics include: ODS PowerPoint ODS Lavout Report Writer Interface. CSS styles. ODS HTML5. ODS FPUB, and more	No		103	2013	
	Iser	N	Document 1 of 612					

In the Categories window, notice that All Categories in the upper-left pane contains four subcategories:

- **Business\_Analytics No.** This is a sub-subcategory within Business\_Analytics. This sub-subcategory was manually classified in the training data before the project was created.
- **Business\_Analytics Yes.** This is a sub-subcategory within Business\_Analytics. This sub-subcategory was manually classified in the training data before the project was created.
- + customer, + sentiment, text, miner, mining. This is a discovered topic that was promoted to a category in the previous Topic node.
- **Text\_Analytics**. This is a new subcategory that was created by selecting text elements in the category results window. The Categories node created the associated rule from the selected textual elements in a previous run.

In the Edit a Category pane, notice the rules that were generated for the subcategories when you click on each subcategory. In addition, you can examine the relevancy scores and the matching documents for each of the subcategories, as shown in Figure 3.21.

Figure 3.21: Edit a Category

	Model Studio - Build N	Nodels				Search		p (	0	asod	lemo 🔻
G	F SGF13 Video > Ca	tegorie							*	Cl	lose
Cate	egories 👂 📑	æ	ŧ.	±∓	@ :	Edit a Category		fext_Analytic	10	3 0	1
1	All Categories Business_Analytics No Yes +customer, +sentin Text_Agalytics	nent, tex	xt, min	er, minii	ng	<pre>[OR, 'text", 'text", "mining", "text sining", "sentiment", "tentiments", "tweets", "tweet", "feedback", "fee based", "opinions", "opinion", "social", "unstructured data")</pre>	dbacks","ser	ntiment"	"rul	e-	28 28
Text	ual Elements (1510)				0	Code is valid.     Documents ID: Test Sample Test				<b>4</b> m	
Text	ual Elements (519) String	~	Ro	16 C	0	Code is valid.  Documents Test Sample Text  Matched	۸		3	ŵ. E	0
Text	uel Elements (1510) String ses	^	Ro	10 10	0	Code is valid.  Documents IDP Test Sample Test abstract	Busin	iiii uniq.	-	🖹 🗉 paper	7
	ual Elements (1510) String sas data	~	Ro PN N	10 C	0	Code is valid.     Test Sample Test     Test Sample Test     Author     abstract MACUMBA is an in-house-developed application for SAS® programming. It combines interactive development features of PC-SAS,	A Busin		-	<b>a</b> 1. paper 009-	() () () () () () () () () () () () () (
	ual Elements (1510) String sas data > use	~	Ro PN N V	i€ []	0	Code is valid.     Coursens CBD Text Sample Text     Matched     abtract MACUMBA is an in-house-developed application for SAS# programming. It combines interactive development feasures of PC-SAS, the possibility of a clientserve environment and unique tasse-ofthe-artifestures that are always missing. This presentation overs some of the unique feasures tasks of ASC ded dedugging, at the beginning spectra ded eaves.	Busin	==	-   1	E     paper 009- 2013	
	ual Elements (1310) String sas data > use c	^	Ro PN N V PU	le NC		Code is valid.     Documents     Test Sample Test      Documents     Test Sample Test      Matched      Matched      MAtched      MACUMBA is an in-house-developed application for SASE programming. It combines inseactive development features of PC-SAS, the possibility of a client server environment and unique rates difficult testives that were always mixing. This presentation covers     some of the unique features that are related to SAS code debugging. At the beginning, special code execution modes are	Busin No	uniq. 10	-	<b>Paper</b> 009- 2013	) ) ) ) )
	ual Elements (530) String sas data > use o > paper	~	Ro PN N V PU N	le NC		Code is valid.  Cocurrents  Test Sample Text  Cocurrent  Test Sample Text  Te	Busin No	uniq. 10	- 1	E     Paper 009- 2013 243-	
	ual Elements 000 String 588 data b use b paper b paper b new b new c	~	Ro PN V PU N A	IF C	8	Code is valid.     Test Sample Test     Test     Test Sample Test     Test Sample Test     Test Sample Test	A Busin No No	uniq. 10	1	E     Paper 009- 2013 243- 2013	) (?) 
Text	Uul Elements (100) Sbing sas data data data data data data b paper b paper b previde b provide b provide	~	Ro PN V PU N A V	le NC		Code is valid.     Test Sample Test     Test     Test Sample Test     Test Sample Test     Test Sample Test	A Busin No	<b>uniq.</b> 10	- 1 2	2013 243- 2013	
Text	ual Elements (100) String sas data b use a b paper b new b provide b create onto		Ro PN V PU N A V V	IE C		Code is valid.     Test Sample Test     Matched     abstract     MACUNBA is an in-house-developed application for 5ASP programming. It combines interactive development features of PC-SAS, the popularity of a clientosever environment and unique status-ofthe-ant features that we always missing. This presentation covers some of the unique features that are related to SAS code debugging. At the beginning, special code exclining more statures and the section mode as a     Would you like to produce Venn diagrams easily. This poster shows how you can produce stanning two-, there, and four-way Venn     diagrams to unique features that are related in the pharmaceutical industry by using Microsoft Excel and     SAS 9.4 COS has several new features. Com o check out and see new destination, new style features, and new ways to format your     output. Topics include: COS ProveRing, ODS Layour, Repertivity. Hereact, CSS tryles, ODS HMLS, ODE EVEN, and more	No No	iuniq. uniq. 10 10	1 2 3	Image: 1         Image: 2           009-2013         2           243-2013         2           SD406-2013         2013	

Note that the sentiment for each document is not displayed here, because a Sentiment Analysis node was not included in the pipeline preceding the Categories node. Click Close in the upper-right corner to return to the pipeline.

# Save Output Data

Run the pipeline by clicking the Run shortcut button  $(\blacktriangleright)$  from the menu in the upper right.

Let's save the output data table so that we can explore it in SAS Visual Analytics. Right-click the Categories node and select Save data table from the drop-down menu. Name the output table "SGF13\_Category\_Output," and save it to the default caslib, CASUSER, as shown in Figure 3.22. Click Save.



ibrary selected: *		
CASUSER(sasdemo)		
elect a library:		
	17 × 0	:
▼ cas-shared-default		0
CASUSER(sasdemo)		
PATH		
Models PATH		
ModelStore PATH		
- Public		
able name: *		
SGE13 Category output		

Now that we have saved the output data table, we are ready to explore and visualize it in SAS Visual Analytics.

# **Explore in SAS Visual Analytics**

Click the three horizontal bars in the top left corner, which is the Show applications menu. Select Explore and Visualize Data as shown in Figure 3.23.





The SAS Visual Analytics Explore and Visualize Data window appears. The first step in data visualization is choosing the data to explore. Click Data in the panel on the left side of the window. Select Add Data Source from the first drop-down menu. Click the Data Sources tab in the window that appears. Under CAS-shared-default, select CASUSER. In the list of available data tables, select SGF13\_Category\_output, which we created in the previous step. Right-click the data table name, and select Load from the drop-down menu.

The details panel appears by default, as shown in Figure 3.24. Notice that the data contain 14 columns and 743 rows. Because a single document can be classified by more than one category, the number of rows increased from 612 to 743, and the total number of documents increased from 612 to 743.

Available Data Sources Import	SGF13_CATEGORY_OUTPUT	* B-
17 × 5 0 1	🔢 Details 💱 Sample Data 📸 Profile	
CASUSER(sasdemo)	Daper_number	Last profiled: Never
01/22/18 08:09 PM	A section	Columns Rows
CATEGORIES_DATA.sashdat 01/22/18 07:42 PM	🔍 char	14 743
GF_CAT_BA_SGF13.sashdat 01/16/18 07:51 PM	Business_Analytics	Size 7.2 MB
MOVIES_SCORING_TRAIN.sashdat 01/23/18 05:13 PM	O authors char	Label: Not available
SGF13_CATEGORY_OUTPUT 03/20/18 03:18 PM + sasdemo	O tide char	Location: cas-shared- default/CASUSER(sasdemo)
SGF13_CATEGORY_OUTPUT.sashdat 01/22/18 07:44 PM	abstract char	Date created: Mar 20, 2018 03:18 PM
0	Char bresonter	Date modified: Mar 20, 2018 03:18 PM
C'P	ouniqueiddouble	Encoding: utf-8
	Skeywords char	
	o document_id	

Figure 3.24: Visual Analytics Data Sources Tab

Let's explore a sample of this data. Click the Sample Data tab in the middle window. By default, the first 100 rows are displayed, as shown in Figure 3.25. You can change the default value if you want to view a different number of rows. Notice that the number of category assignments varies. For example, as shown in the highlighted row in Figure 3.25, Document 102 is classified into the *missing* subcategory (that is, not assigned to any one of the four subcategories that we saw earlier).

	Figure	3.25:	Sample	Data
--	--------	-------	--------	------

A paper_num	_uniqueid	A Busines	A keywords	▲ _category_	G\$00.19_	& category_le	A category.
243-2013	102	No					
245-2013	202	No	software	Business_Analytic	1	Business	No
246-2013	302	Yes	text   text mining   sentiment   sentiment   text   mining   mining	Text_Analytics	7		
246-2013	302	Yes	mining   mining   insights   revenue	Business_Analytic	4	Business	Yes
246-2013	302	Yes	sentiment   text   customer	+customer, +senti	3		
498-2013	402	Yes	text   text mining   mining   tweets   tweets   text   mining   text mining   text   Text   Tex	Text_Analytics	13		
498-2013	402	Yes	insights   mining   Miner   Miner   mining	Business_Analytic	5	Business	Yes
498-2013	402	Yes	Text   text   text	+customer, +senti	3		
247-2013	502	No					
248-2013	602	No					
250-2013	702	Yes	text mining   text   rule-based   Sentiment   sentiment   mining   sentiment   Sentime	Text_Analytics	10		
250-2013	702	Yes	sentiments   text   sentiment   Sentiment	+customer, +senti	4		
250-2013	702	Yes	reviews   reviews   Reviews	Business_Analytic	3	Business	No
250-2013	702	Yes	insights [mining	Business_Analytic	2	Business	Yes
251-2013	802	No	mining   Tweets   sentiment   sentiment   tweets   text   Text   text   Sentiment   Text   te	Text_Analytics	21		
251-2013	802	No	sentiments   sentiment   text   Sentiment   Text   sentiments   sentiments   text   sentim	+customer, +senti	10		
251-2013	802	No	mining   text   Miner   Text   analytics   text	Business_Analytic	6	Business	Yes
252-2013	902	No	effects   effects   PROC	Business_Analytic	3	Business	No
253-2013	1	No	software	Business_Analytic	1	Business	No
254-2013	1	No	software	Business_Analytic	1	Business	No
254-2013	1	No	Miner	Business_Analytic	1	Business	Yes
255-2013	1	No	tables Itable IPROC.	Rusiness Analutic	3	Rusiness	No

#### 76 Exploring SAS Viya: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations

Meanwhile, in the next row, Document 202 is classified into the Business\_Analytics No subcategory. Document 302 is classified into three different subcategories, as you can see in the next three rows.

Click OK to open the Explore and Visualize Data window. In addition to the original variables shown in the Data panel in Figure 3.26, several new variables were created by the Categories node:

- \_category\_. This is the assigned subcategory level.
- Keywords. This is the terms responsible for grouping that specific document into a specific category.
- \_score\_. This is the category membership scores, which indicate the number of keywords present in the document.

#### Figure 3.26: Visual Analytics Data Panel

=	SAS® Visual Analytics - Explore and Vi	sualize Data
Rep	port 1	
	Data	:
Data	SGF13_CATEGORY_OUTPUT	* 13
Objects	Search	Q
1 Outline	+ New data item	22.5
	<ul> <li>Category</li> </ul>	
	_category 5	
	abstract - 577	
	authors - 431	
	Business_Analytics - 2	
	category_level_1 - 2	
	category_level_2 - 3	
	keywords - 263	
	paper_number - 601	
	presenter - 417	
	section - 32	
	title - 575	
	<ul> <li>Measure</li> </ul>	
	_score_	
	& document_id	
	Frequency	
Ŧ		

### **Bar Chart**

Let's use a horizontal bar chart to visualize the categorical variables membership. Select Objects from the farleft pane. Under Graphs, select Bar Chart and drag it into the center window. On the far right of the graph window, under Category, click Add. In the Add Data Item pop-up menu, select\_\_category\_\_ as the category variable.

The bar chart displays a bar for each of the five subcategory levels, as shown in Figure 3.27. Notice that the subcategory levels are sorted by the categorical level frequency.



Figure 3.27: Frequency of \_category\_ Bar Chart

To generate a two-way bar chart, add a subgroup variable. Under Group, click Add. In the Add Data Item popup menu, select Business\_Analytics as the Group variable. The chart now displays the frequency of \_category\_ grouped by Business\_Analytics, as shown in Figure 3.28.



Figure 3.28: Frequency of \_category\_ Grouped by Business\_Analytics Bar Chart

Similarly, we can create another two-way bar chart. Create a new page by clicking the + next to Page 1 on the tab at the top. Select Bar Chart from the Objects again, and drag it to the middle window.

This time, for Category, select Add and then choose Business\_Analytics. For the Group, select Add, and then choose category\_level\_2. From this chart (Figure 3.29), we can estimate the model classification assessment statistics recall percentage (66 / (73 + 66 + 6)) and precision percentage (66 / (66 + 46)) by hovering over the bars to see the numbers.



Figure 3.29: Frequency of Business\_Analytics Grouped by category\_level\_2 Bar Chart

### Word Cloud

To display the keywords frequencies used in the classification rules, add a new page. Then choose Word Cloud from the Objects list in the far-left pane. Drag the object to the center window.

In the right pane, for the Word variable, choose Keywords to be the variable. In the Word Cloud chart shown in Figure 3.30, the size of the font is proportional to the term frequency. In this example, the most frequent keyword is "missing," which represents the documents that do not belong to the predefined Business\_Analytics category.

Figure 3.30: Keyword Frequency Word Cloud



To save your work as a SAS Visual Analytics report, click the Save icon in the upper right. Name the report "Category Analysis," and then click Save.

Because SAS Visual Text Analytics tools are integrated with SAS Visual Analytics, output tables generated by the SAS Visual Text Analytics nodes can also be explored in the following ways:

- Smart visualizations
- Guided analysis through auto charting
- Dashboard reports

# **Resources**

This chapter is based on the "SAS Visual Text Analytics on SAS Viya" videos in <u>SAS® Viya® Enablement</u>, a free course available from SAS Education.

To learn more about SAS Visual Text Analytics, view screenshots and see other related materials, please visit sas.com/vta.

You might find the following documentation helpful as you learn more about programming in SAS Visual Text analytics:

- SAS Visual Text Analytics 8.3: User's Guide
- SAS Visual Text Analytics 8.3: Procedures
- SAS Visual Text Analytics 8.3: Programming Guide

# **Chapter 4: SAS Visual Investigator**

Introduction	
Home Page	
Searches	
Workspaces	
Insights	
Searches	85
Simple Searches	
Advanced Search	
Geospatial Searches	
Alert Triage Process	
Alerts Page	
Alerts Monitoring	
Workflow Process	96
Accessing Tasks	
Completing Workflow Tasks	
Task View	
Workflow Monitoring	
Export to Microsoft Excel	
Structured Printing	
Audit Reports for Administrators	
Audit Search Query Builder	
Internal Entity Reference Number	
Data Object Import	
Resources	

# Introduction

SAS Visual Investigator has a user-friendly interface that empowers intelligence analysts and investigators to work collaboratively and efficiently. Search capabilities enable you to build, gather, explore, visualize, and manipulate data. You can easily document findings by capturing views of search visualizations to narrate maps, timelines, networks, and other content. Auditing information related to user activities is captured automatically by the system and can be configured to meet your compliance needs. Let's take a quick look at some of the features, starting with the Home page. Then we will explore a few of the program's other features in more detail.

### **Home Page**

From the SAS Visual Investigator Home page, you can access several capabilities. A sample Home page is shown in Figure 4.1. You can create new objects in the system, such as investigations, by using the Create New tile.

You can perform free text searches by entering search terms in the Search bar, or you can search for specific object types by using the form searches that have been configured on the Home page. These form searches provide you with quick access to objects that you need to work with frequently. For example, you could search for the name of a person or organization.

82 Exploring SAS Viya: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations

SAS® Visual Investigator					🕜 videmo
Home Alerts Search					Q
R	Sas	THE POWER TO KNOW.			
Create New	Search Search O.D	Alert Summary	Count	Median Age	
	~	Identification Document Expiration	157	18,	Ĩ
Investigation	Aircraft Search	Media Publications	9	18 hours	1
Person Search	Program	+ Default	$\odot$	0 hours	
Program	Remarks	Recently Viewed No recently viewed objects			
Search Reset	Soarch Roset				
at Organization Search	🗯 Vessel Search				
Name	Name				
Program	Vessel Type				
Search Reset	Fløg				
	Owner				
	Search Reset				

#### Figure 4.1: Visual Investigator Home Page

The Home page also provides you with an Alert Summary, which is an overview of your personal metrics, alerts, strategies and queues assigned to you, how many of them you have closed, and other actions. From the Recently Viewed tile, you can quickly access any objects that you have recently viewed.

### Searches

Let's look at an example of how to do a form search. In this example, we are looking for information about a specific organization, so we will use the Organization Search tile on the Home page. Enter the search term "MS-13" in the Name field of the form search, and then press Search.

This will return search results, as shown in Figure 4.2. Use the Tools in the right pane to get more details about the results, including summary information.

Figure	4.2:	Search	Results
--------	------	--------	---------

SAS® Visual Investigator			? videmo
Home Alerts Search			a
:= Detail View +   (_type: Organization	AND sdn_name: MS-13	● ♀   聞 繰   Select → Object →	
Filters	Showing 1 to 3 of 3 results	Sort results by: Relevance   Results per page: 40	Tools Object Inspector + >
All Types	a <sup>4</sup> a MS-13 Program: TCO D		Organization Details
	A CORBURN 13 FARM Program: ZIMBABWE		15412 Nerre: MS-13
	A PARQUEADERO DE LA 25-13 Program: SDNTK		Program: TCO Remarks:
			Poetrige Age

From the search results, double-click a result to open the object of interest. In this example, we will doubleclick the MS-13 result. A new window opens with the Organization Details for MS-13, as shown in Figure 4.3. Extra information is also available in additional tabs at the top, including details of the organization's aliases, and information from external sites such as its Wikipedia page might also be shown.

#### Figure 4.3: Organization Details Window

SAS <sup>®</sup> Visual Investigator	Organization	0	videmo
Home Alerts Search	(AMS-13 ×)		Q
я			
Main Details Aliases 🕂			
Organization Details			
ID: 15412	Remarks:		
Name:			
MS-13			
TCO			
Wikipedia Page			
Control of the contro	Artice Tak Read View source View history  MS-13  From Wilepola. The free encyclopedia  For other uses, see MS 13.  This article needs additional citations for verification. Please help improve this article by adding citations to reliable sources takenged and removed. (Joss 2014) (S J Lean hor and mine to remove this improve this article by adding citations to reliable sources and Central America. The majority of the gang is ethnic&B composed of Central American Is spread to other parts of the Uniced States. Canada, I and Central America. The majority of the gang is ethnic&B composed of Central Americans; mostly Salvadorans) and active is urban areas.	A Hottoppe in Talk Contributions Create account Login     Smarch     Q      Unsourced material may be      Aexco,     Mara Salvatrucha	•
Interaction Help About Wikipedia Community portal Recent changes	In the U.S. the MS-13 has an especially heavy presence in Los Angeles County and the San Francisco Bay Area in Nombern Cationna; the Vashington, D.C. me areas of Faifax County, Vargina, Montgomery County, Maryland, and Prince George's County, Maryland, Long Island, New York; the Boston, Massachusetts area Chantette, North Carolina, and Housen, Ireas. There as tao a presence of MS-13 in Tonnot), Chanton, Chanda.	tropolitan c main a statistical statistica	
Tools	use of violence and a subcultural moral code that predominantly consists of merciless revenge and cruel retributions. This cruetly of the distinguished members o "Maras" or "Maras" or "Maras	f the (5) (5)(7) Mara Salvativitha gaps member with gaps;	
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki	MS-13	man on the state your many many and a	

### Workspaces

If you want to understand more about a search result's relationships to other individuals, places, and groups, you can add the object to a workspace and begin exploring the data in different visualizations. To add a search result to a workspace, click the square windowpane icon in the top-left corner of the screen. This opens the Add Documents to Workspace window, as shown in Figure 4.4. Select the option (New Investigation), and then click OK.

AS® Visual Investigator	- Organization			😗 vide
Home Alerts Search	(♣ MS-13 ×)			
Main Details Aliases 🕂				
Name:	-			
MS-13		Add Document to Workspace *		
Program:		inter protection to thompson		
		Add to:		
		(New Investigation)		
11 11000			S Not logge	In Talk Contributions Create account Log in
· · · · · ·	and the second			
II Q	Article Talk		Read View source View history Search	Q
1 2 Y				
WINIDEDIA	MS-13			9
The Free Encyclopedia	Emm Wilkingdia, the free encoderadia			
	столя тиморола, плетное епсусторетна			
Main page	For other uses, see MS 13.	La-		
Featured content	This article needs additional citation		cle by adding citations to reliable sources. Linsourced in	naterial may be
Current events	challenged and removed. (April 2015)			
Random article		OK Cancel		
Wikipedia store	Mara Salvatrucha (MS-13) is an international criminal gang that origin and Central America. The malazity of the gang is ethnically composed		ther parts of the United States, Canada, Mexico,	Mara Salvatrucha
	and Central Viterica. The majority of the gang is edimically composed		and and suburban areas.	
Help	In the U.S., the MS-13 has an especially heavy presence in Los Angeles	County and the San Francisco Bay Area in N	orthern California; the Washington, D.C. metropolitan	TERNAL IN
About Wikipedia	Charlotte, North Carolina, and Houston, Texas, There is also a presence.	of MS-13 in Toronto, Ontario, Canada	New TOR, the Boston, Massachusetts area,	
Community portal	Charlose, room cardana, and roozion, rexus. There is also a presence	or more to an resoluto, ornano, canada.		and the White at
Contact page	Members of MS distinguish themselves by fattoos covering the body and	also often the face, as well as the use of their	r own sign language. They are notorious for their	a loss of the second se
	"Maras" or "Mareros" earned them a path to be recruited by the Sinaloa (	Cartel battling against Los Zetas in an ongoin	a drug war south of the United States border (\$1807)	Mara Salvaturcha gang member with gang's
	a pair to be reasoned by the outlood of	a second a second as an an angen	a near the states becau	and a second sec

Figure 4.4: Add Document to Workspace

Now you will be taken to the workspace in your New Investigation and can explore different views. Click the Detail View drop-down on the left side of the screen to see your options for different views:

- Map View
- Timeline View
- Network View
- Table View

#### 84 Exploring SAS Viya: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations

Let's see what the Network View looks like. You can expand the relationships to view the full social network, as shown in Figure 4.5. Double-click an icon to expand, or choose the expand option from the toolbar at the top of the workspace. You can flip out of this view easily by choosing one of the other views to see the Map View, Timeline View, or Table View at any time.

#### Figure 4.5: Network View



### Insights

To capture any findings or items of interest during your research and investigations, you can add snapshot views of the visualizations and data to your insights and also add your own supporting notes.

To do this, select the Object drop-down from the toolbar at the top of the workspace, and then select "Add network to Insights." This opens the "Add network to Insights" dialog box. Select the Investigation and click OK.

Adding the network to your Insights opens the Insights tab, where you can continue building on your research, as shown in Figure 4.6.





### Searches

SAS Visual Investigator has the capability to perform simple free text searches from either the Search tab in the top toolbar, or the Search tile on the Home page. You also can perform advanced searches that enable you to create complex queries to further refine the results returned from a search. First, we will learn how to perform a simple search.

# **Simple Searches**

Selecting the Search tab enables you to enter keywords and search terms. In this example, we want to look for information about Panama. Enter "Panama" in the search box and press Enter. The search results are displayed in a detailed tiled view, along with summary information and details of the number of results, as shown in Figure 4.7. You can page through the list of results by using the page navigator at the top of the window, change the sort order, and change the number of results displayed per page.



SAS® Visual Investigator				😗 videmo	
Home Alerts (Search)				Q	
I Detail View + Panama	ه	D B A Select+ Object+			
Filters	Showing 1 to 40 of 354 results 1 2 3 4 5 Next >	Sort results by: Relevance	Results per page: 40 +	Tools Object Inspector +	
All Types     All Types     Address (19)     Document (164)	A Panama City, Panama Address: Panama City, Panama	Panama City, Panama     Adven: Pinama     Zop, Finama			
A Person (26)     A Organization (135)     Since of Birth (7)	ft Panama City, Panama			Calle 53A Este, Panama City, Panama	
Ap Trace of Birch (4) ■ the Versel (6)	Ao Panama Aodesis: Panama				
	ft Panama				
	n Calle 53A Este, Panama City, Panama		V <sub>2</sub>		
	n 513 Panama-Bear Lake Rd, Panama, NY 14767, USA	Ē			
	Address: Colon, Panama		1		
	& El Higo, Panama Aderes: El Higo, Panama		Leafer		
	n Av Central, Panamá, Panama		8.9745404 Longitude: .70.5148941		
	ft Colon, Panama				
	n Via Brasil, Panamá, Panama				
	n Calle S, Panama, Panama				
	ft Calle 8, Panamá, Panama				
	ft Darien, Panama				

The Object Inspector pane on the right-hand side displays more information about a selected object. This enables you to see details and context without having to open each item individually.

The filters and facets on the left-hand side of the screen enable you to refine your search results. For example, you can click the check box next to ID Document to filter to show results for only a certain type of identification document, such as passports. These categorical facets, combined with date/time and numeric filters, can be used to further refine the results list.

You can also view your search results in alternative visualizations, including Map View and Table View. Click the Detail View drop-down list in the upper-left corner of the screen to change the view, as shown in Figure 4.8. Filters and facets are available in all views.



#### Figure 4.8: Map View

From any search result visualization, you can select one or more of the items in the results list and carry out an action on them by selecting them and right-clicking. For example, you can view the full details or add the objects to a Workspace or Insights as part of an investigation. All these actions are available from right-clicking on an object or from the toolbar menus.

### **Advanced Search**

Now, let's learn how to configure and run an advanced search in SAS Visual Investigator. Advanced search provides a simplified means of creating complex queries to refine the search results returned from a search in SAS Visual Investigator. It does so by means of a simple-to-use query builder interface. Most users will not know the exact syntax to use to build complex search queries. Providing an advanced search with a query builder interface helps users easily define the query that they want to run.

In this section, we will look at an example of how to construct and run a search that will return people who have the first name of John and a last name starting with the letter S. We will then modify our initial search to add additional search terms.

### **Create a Query**

To create an advanced search query, click the Advanced Search icon, which is located next to the Search field and is outlined in an orange box in Figure 4.9. Note that the advanced Search button is also displayed next to the search field on the Home page, the Search page, and in the search results.

me Alerts Tasks Management Search I			
earch	🎍 Person Search	👄 Vehicle Search	Create New
Search o P 💽	Name type:	Anpr:	Information Report
Version Person Course	First name:		Intelligence Product Proposal
Course Descentaria	Last name:	Vrm:	Intelligence Briefing
Radius search      Area search		Main color:	
+ Lenonton K	Search Reset	Other color:	Recently Viewed No recently viewed objects
Bearden Crydebart Barnesinopp Margare		Search Reset	My Tasks
Glasgow	Telecoms Search	I Organization Se	: Object Label : Task
Ruthergien,	Detail - e.g. telephone number, email address,	Organization name:	Drugs 2018-03-12 Risk Assessmen
Barrhead Giffnock	uri etc.:	Industry:	
Newton Mésms East.Kypride	Identification number - e.g. imei, serial number		

Figure 4.9: Advanced Search Button

After you click the Advanced Search button, the Advanced Search dialog box is displayed. The Advanced Search dialog box enables you to create advanced searches without knowledge of how to construct a query, using specific syntax for logical operators, fuzzy searching, proximity searching, and so on.

To begin creating your query, you must select the object type that you want to search for. From the Object Type drop-down list, select a specific entity type, such as an Alert, Information Report, Location, or Organization. In our example, we will select the Person object, as shown in Figure 4.10. Note that from the Object Type dropdown list, you can also select All Object Types if you do not want to choose a specific entity type.

elect an object type 🔹					1	0	
Intelligence Developmen	• Operator	Ŧ		~	-		1
Intelligence Product Prop				~		~	
Location							
Organization							
Person							
Problem Profile							
Subject Profile							

Figure 4.10: Advanced Search Dialog Box

Selecting a specific entity enables you to create a query that targets specific information in a field, such as Last Name, when you select the Person entity type. Also, note that the object type selection that you make determines which fields and operators are available as you continue to build your query.

For this example, we will start by specifying the query parameters for Last Name. From the Category dropdown list, select the category that you want to run the query against. In this case, choose Last Name. From the Operator drop-down list, select the operator to be applied to your search. In this case, choose Contains all. In the Search text field, enter your search term. Our search term is S. As you begin typing, three query modifiers above the cursor that enable you to add wildcard and fuzzy modifiers, as shown outlined in an orange box in Figure 4.11.

88 Exploring SAS Viya: Visual Analytics, Statistics, and Investigations

#### Figure 4.11: Query Modifiers

		* ? ~	• •
ast name	▼ Contains all	▲ a I	≈ - ∧
+_type:person +last_name:S			
+_type:person +last_name:S			
+_type:person +last_name:S			

We will apply a wildcard to our query. Select the wildcard modifier (\*).

SAS Visual Investigator enables you to include wildcards in search queries to find similar words. These include the following:

- \* matches any number of wildcard characters (including no character) within a word. For example, *d\*g* finds *dog*, *dug*, *dig*, plus *drug*, *drowning*.
- ? matches a single wildcard character. For example, *d*?*g* finds *dog*, *dug*, or *dig*.
- ~ enables fuzzy matching and can find objects that contain terms close to the search terms without matching exactly—for example, when words stored in the data repository are commonly misspelled or mistyped.

Note that as you build up your query, the text area in the gray box at the bottom of the screen displays the generated query text. You can apply modifiers to your search by clicking the appropriate button next to the Search text field. The Switch to text editor link at the bottom of the screen enables advanced users to enter queries manually without using the query builder tools.

Our first query is complete, so let's add additional query parameters for First Name. Click the Add button (+) to the right of the first query to add a new row. From the Category drop-down list, select the category that you want. In this case, we will select First Name. From the Operator drop-down list, select the operator to be applied to your search. In this case, we will select Phrase. In the Search text field, enter your search term. We will enter the first name John, as shown in Figure 4.12. Note that you can click the trashcan icon to the right of the row at any time to remove the corresponding row from the query.

Person	*						۲	٥	
	Last name	٠	Contains all	٣	\$*	~	-	^	+
ND .	First name	*	Phrase	*	John I	~	-	٨	+
+_type:per	son +last_name:S* +f	irst_name:".	John"						
+_type:per	son +last_name:S* +f	îrst_name:".	John"						
+_type:per	son +last_name:S* +f	irst_name:".	John"		****				

Figure 4.12: Additional Query Parameters

To execute the query, click the Search button. The query executes, and the search results list people who have the first name of John and any last name starting with the letter S, as shown in Figure 4.13.

#### Figure 4.13: Search Results

SAS® Visual Investigato	or		<b>?</b>
Home Alerts Tasks	Management Search		Q
Detail View	+_type:person +last_name:\$* +first_name:"John"	o ♀ 💽   ☵ 📲   Select▼ Object▼	
Filters < All Types Berson (9)	1 to 9 of 9 results found. Lohn Stephen Smith Last name: Smith Middle name(s): Stephen First name: John Date of birkt: 5/25/1973 01:00:00.000      Last name: Smithe Last name: Smithe Middle name(s): Christopher First name: John Date of birkt: 5/16/1955	Sort results by: Relevance	Results per page: 40
	A John Terance Salmon Lastname: Salmon Middle name(s): Terance First name: John Date of binh: 1/2/1954     John William Simm Lastname: Simm Middle name(s): William First name: John Date of binh: 3/5/1990	C2	
	🛓 John Eric Smithers		

This search returned several results. Note that the query is displayed in the Search field at the top and in the browser session. If you open the advanced search again, it will be populated with your previous query. Queries are not saved between sessions, however.

### Modify a Query

What if you want to modify this query to add additional search parameters? Click the Advanced Search icon to the right of the search bar at the top of the screen. The Advanced Search dialog box is displayed, populated with our previous query.

Suppose we now want to search for individuals with the first name John and the last name Smith. However, we want the search to include alternate spellings for Smith.

To do so, first we need to modify our existing search criteria. Update the first row by changing  $S^*$  to Smith. Add the fuzzy search modifier (~) after the word Smith so that we can run a fuzzy search, as shown in Figure 4.14. In this example, adding the fuzzy search modifier returns records for any near matches to the name Smith including Smith, Smyth, Smth, and on the like.

Person	•			* ? ~		۲	3	
	Last name		Contains all	▼ Smith~	32	-	^	+
AND 🔻	First name	•	Phrase	▼ John	*	-	٨	
+_type:per	son +last_name:Smith	~ +first_nam	ie:"John"	****				
+_type:peri	son +last_name:Smith	~ +first_nam	ie:"John"					
+_type:per	son +last_name:Smith	~ +first_nam	ie:"John"					

#### Figure 4.14: Fuzzy Search

In addition, we will add a second search query. This second search will use a proximity search to find Information Reports that contain information relating to a suspect's "black leather jacket." Proximity searches enable you to specify the number of terms within which your query terms must occur. This attribute is always used with a proximity level from 0 to 10.

Click the Add button (+) to the right of the last row in the current query. This will add a new row for our second search. In the first column, change AND to OR. From the Object Type drop-down list, select a specific entity type. In this example, we will select the Information Report object. From the category drop-down list, select the category that you want. In this example, we will use the (all categories) option. From the Operator drop-down list, select the operator to be applied to the list. In this case, we will use Phrase. In the search text field, enter your search terms: black leather jacket.

From the drop-down list accessed by clicking the  $\approx$  symbol to the right of the row, select Proximity 5, as shown in Figure 4.15.

#### Figure 4.15: Proximity Search

🔒 Person	•						0	D C	)	
	Last name	٠	Contains all	*	Smith~	*	•	- /		+
AND 🔻	First name	٠	Phrase	•	John	*	-	- /	<b>^</b> ·	+
OR v	Information Report	•								
							-			
all categori	es)	·	Phrase	•	black leather jacket	≈ (na Pro	one oxin	- /	1	+
all categori	es)	•	Phrase	·	black leather jacket	≈ (no Pro Pro Pro Pro	one oxin oxin oxin	mity i mity i mity i mity i	1 2 3 4	+
(+_type:pe OR (+_type:inf	es) rson +last_name:Smith~ +1 ormation_report +"black le	first_na eather j	Phrase ame:"John") acket")	•	black leather jacket	≈ Pro Pro Pro Pro Pro Pro	one oxin oxin oxin oxin oxin oxin	mity mity mity mity mity mity mity	1 2 3 4 5 7	+
(+_type:pe OR (+_type:info	es) rson +last_name:Smith~ +f prmation_report +"black le	• first_na eather j	Phrase ame:"John") acket")	•	black leather jacket	≈ (ne Pro Pro Pro Pro Pro Pro Pro		- )) mity ( mity ( mity ( mity ( mity ( mity (	11 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	+

This second search will return any Information Reports that contain the phrase "black leather jacket" to within five search terms. For example, this search would match with the phrase "leather jacket that was black."

We will further extend our search to include a boost. The boost operator ( $^{\circ}$ ) is also located to the right of the row. It enables you to increase the importance of a word, phrase, or group within your search. We will increase the importance of the phrase "black leather jacket." Select the boost operator icon ( $^{\circ}$ ) and select Increase boost (3) from the drop-down list. The text area below updates to display your generated query text, as shown in Figure 4.16.

Person	*						1	0		
	Last name	*	Contains all	*	Smith~	~	-	^	+	
ND -	First name	*	Phrase	*	John	*	-	^	+	
R Ŧ	Information Report									
								-	÷	
ll categori	es)	Ť	Phrase	Ŧ	black leather jacket	~5	-	^3	+	
ll categori	es)	Ţ	Phrase	•	black leather jacket	-5	-	^3	+	•
⊢_type:pe	es) rson +last_name:Smith~ +f	• first_na	Phrase	•	black leather jacket	-5	-	~3	+	
+_type:pe )R	es) rson +last_name:Smith~ +l	• first_na	Phrase	•	black leather jacket	-5	-	~3	+	
+_type:pe )R +_type:infi	es) rson +last_name:Smith~ +f ormation_report +~black le	• first_na eather j	Phrase ame:"John") acket"~5^3)	•	black leather jacket	-5	-	~3	+	
+_type:pe >R +_type:inf	es) rson +last_name:Smith~ +f ormation_report +~black le	first_na	Phrase ame:"John") acket"~5^3)	·	black leather jacket	-5	-	~3	+	

Figure 4.16: Generated Query Text

Click Search. Various search results are returned, as shown in Figure 4.17. Review the search results. Our modified search applies fuzzy searching to the last name field on the Person object, looks for the phrase John in the First Name field, and returns any hits.

#### Figure 4.17: Search Results

SAS® Visual Investigato	r		() had makened
Home Alerts Tasks	Management Search		٩
E Detail View	((+_type:person +last_name:Smith~ +first_name:"John") OR (+_t	γορ 💽   🖽 μ♥   Select▼ Object▼	
Filters <	1 to 6 of 6 results found.	Sort results by: Relevance	Results per page: 40 🔻 🔨
<ul> <li>All Types</li> <li>Information Report</li> <li>Person (4)</li> </ul>	▲ John Stephen Smith Leatname: Smith Middle name(s): Stephen First name: John Date of birth: 5/25/1973 01:00:00.000     ▲ John David Smith Leatname: Smith Middle name(s): David First name: John Date of birth: 3/29/1972		
	John Christopher Smithe Last name: Smithe Middle name(s): Christopher First name: John Date of birth: 5/16/1955      John Smth Last name: Smth Middle name(s):	¢	

In addition, the second part of the search returns Information Reports that contain the phrase "black leather jacket" in the Structured Text field or in any records in which the terms black, leather, and jacket occur within five terms of each other, as shown in Figure 4.18.

#### Figure 4.18: Information Report Result

SAS® Visual Investigator - Information Report				3	
Home Alerts Tasks Management Search   🗋 Drugs 2018-03-12 ×					٩
Report Information Location Links Sanitization +	0 Attachments	0 Comments	(1) Tasks	0 Simila	Reports
Analysis					=
Information received that Brian David ABBOT of 1b SANDFORD PLACE, WESTSIDE, London, is supplying heroin to local dealers. His son, Jason Michael ABBOT, works as a courier for Brian David ABBOT, using a WHITE FORD EXPLORER (VRM: A123ABC). Source states that JasonMichael ABBOT always carries a Glock 21 handgun when making drug de <mark>liveries, Brian</mark>	Labe	1	Туре	0-0	
David ABBOT is described as caucasian male, aged 19 to 21 years, 5ft 8in tall. Unshaven. Wearing black pant a leather jacket possibly black, cruffy sneakers.	No	groups have b	een found.		
Lat					

# **Geospatial Searches**

SAS Visual Investigator provides you with rich geospatial search capabilities. From the Search window, you can switch to the Map View by clicking on the Detail View drop-down and selecting Map View. Then, you can zoom to the area that you want to search. You can zoom by using the mouse scroll wheel and the plus and minus bars on the Map toolbar.

SAS Visual Investigator also provides some different area shapes that you can draw:

- Polygon
- Rectangle

- Circle
- Predefined radius

Suppose that we want to find more information about the data that we have in relation to Mexico. We can draw a bounded polygon shape roughly around Mexico, as shown in Figure 4.19.



Figure 4.19: Polygon Search Area

Once you have drawn your shape, then enter your search term in the search bar at the top of the page. In this example, we want to see all data in that area, so we will use the wildcard character (\*). The results are plotted on the map. You can use the filters panel on the left to narrow down the results set, as shown in Figure 4.20. The Object Inspector pane on the right shows you more information about the results without your having to open each item.



#### Figure 4.20: Search Results

Let's look at another example of how to perform a geospatial search. Move over to the Miami area on the map, and we will perform a search there. This time, we will use the predefined radius search option. For this example, we will choose a radius of 20 km from the drop-down menu and then drag the circle over to the map on which you want to perform your search.

You can use the selection option from the toolbar (open rectangle) to select multiple results within your search area. Then you can add them to a workspace for further investigation. Or you can add the Map View itself to Add Map to Insights, as shown in Figure 4.21.



#### Figure 4.21: Search Result Options

SAS Visual Investigator also provides the ability to search multiple areas simultaneously or edit a search area that you have drawn. Similarly, if you draw an area but change your mind, then you can delete it and draw a different shape.

# **Alert Triage Process**

In this section, we will look at the alert triage process. From the Home page, you can see details of the alert strategies that you have been assigned to work, along with information about the number of alerts, their average age, and some personal metrics, as shown in Figure 4.22.

SAS® Visual Investigator			videmo
Home Alerts Search			0
	<u>S</u> sas	THE POWER TO KNOW	
Create New	Search (Search • D	Alert Summary	Count Median Age
Investigation	X Aircraft Search	Identification Document Expiration     Media Publications	
A Person Search	Program	Default Recently Viewed	0 Unked 0 Closed
Program Sourch Reset	Renarks Search Reset	Object Object Organization 15612 Identification Document 1875	Viewed ÷         157         High         0         Held         0         Suppressed           Aug 11,201i         999         Median score         0         Dispositioned         0         New alerts
Corganization Search	More Vessel Search	SOUTH HEL 2  GUNTED SEUF-DEFENSE FORCES OF COLOMBIA  GALAPAGOS S.A.	Aug 11, 201-         47 Oldest alert         157 Carry over           Aug 11, 201-         47 Oldest alert         0% Penetration           Aug 11, 201-         0% Penetration         400 11. 2016 201122 PM
		ft Karl-Barth-Straße 14, 53129 Bonn, Germany	Aug 11, 2016 2:41:04 PM
Program Security Parat	Fing	National ID No. 5209445304 (Germany) issued 05 Sep 2005 expires 04 Sep 2010	Aug 11, 2016 2:40:53 PM +
	Ouner Search Rest		

#### Figure 4.22: Alert Metrics

# **Alerts Page**

From the main Alerts page, which can be accessed by clicking on the Alerts tab at the top of the screen, we can see details of all the alerts in a selected surveillance strategy. Alerts are triggered on the basis of rules and scenarios that identify events of interest that require triaging before a decision can be made on what action to

take. In Figure 4.23, we can see multiple surveillance strategies that have been deployed in the drop-down menu.

SAS® Visual Investigator									videmo
Home Alerts Search	1								Q
Identification Document Expin	ation - Close - S								157 Alerts
Identification Document Expira Media Publications	I Alertid	Alert type	1	Entity ID		Entity Type	I Alert status	I Created date/time	1
Default	Alert_28825604	INSPECT		1985		IdentificationDocument	ACTIVE	Aug 9, 2016 9:06:47 AM	-
999	Alert_36762205	INSPECT		1875		IdentificationDocument	ACTIVE	Aug 9, 2016 9:06:47 AM	
(999	Alert_44474594	INSPECT		1028		IdentificationDocument	ACTIVE	Aug 9, 2016 9:06:47 AM	
999	Alert_958876	INSPECT		1031		IdentificationDocument	ACTIVE	Aug 9, 2016 9:06:47 AM	
(999	Alert_17511588	INSPECT		1961		IdentificationDocument	ACTIVE	Aug 9, 2016 9:06:47 AM	
(999	Alert_45574751	INSPECT		1042		IdentificationDocument	ACTIVE	Aug 9, 2016 9:06:47 AM	
(999	Alert_43458506	INSPECT		1876		IdentificationDocument	ACTIVE	Aug 9, 2016 9:06:47 AM	
(999	Alert_11639404	INSPECT		1196		IdentificationDocument	ACTIVE	Aug 9, 2016 9:06:47 AM	
(999	Alert_7352689	INSPECT		1757		IdentificationDocument	ACTIVE	Aug 9, 2016 9:06:47 AM	
(999	Alen_32307438	INSPECT		1783		IdentificationDocument	ACTIVE	Aug 9, 2016 9:06:47 AM	
				1001		10-100-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-10-	A stand of	A	*
Scorecard		Score: 999	Alert Information				Network		:
			AlentiD: Alen_28825604 Alentype: BiSFECT Ently ID: 1985 Ently type: IdentificationDocumen Quere: quere:_id_docs	¥I.	Status: ACTIVE Productive: false Updated by: videmo Update date: 08/10/2016		Q Q Q Q Creat Case.	B Market do 131. Second do 131. Market do 1	

The first surveillance strategies show alerts raised in relation to individuals on watch lists whose identification documents, such as passports or diplomatic papers, are about to expire or have recently expired. The second surveillance strategy includes alerts that have been triggered because of individuals and organizations who appear on watch lists and are also referenced in recent news articles. From the Alert grid, we can see a summary page showing the scorecard information and details of the social network around the alerted entity. Double-click to open a specific alert and view its full details. In Figure 4.24, we see the scorecard and information about the rules that resulted in this individual's being sent to the Alert queue.

Figure	4.24:	Alert	Scor	recard
--------	-------	-------	------	--------

SAS® Visual Investigator - Alert				videmo
Home Alerts Search   (A Organization 15412 x)				Q
Close - D				
Alert Details* Troppers Comments Scoring History Alert History Workspace-1	+			
Score: 990 Media Publication Madia Kite Case Against El Salvadors 10313 Reveals State Role in Gang's Growth Automotion ObtiO2016 12:00 AM Media Kite Mod //www.indjater.mee.org/newsana/sist/case-against-el-salvadons-ms13-reveals-state- role-in-gang-a-growth	Alert Information Alertin* Alert 4974214 Alert 4974214 Alert 4974214 Ref 2014 Ref 2014 Display 2	Sons: ACTVE Poducine: Mite Lategoland by: videm0 Gentloote Gentloote	Network Q Q Q	Eendaring network. Rendaring network.

We can also access the workspace that has been prepopulated with details of the alerted entity and its social network, as shown in Figure 4.25. You can explore the network by using the tools available in the pane in the right-hand side of the screen. You can also create duplicate or new workspaces and switch views to explore the information related to this alert and different visualizations, such as the Map View or Table View.



#### Figure 4.25: Alert Workspace

At any time, you can capture your findings in Add Map to Insights. Along with views of the data, you can also add images and your own notes to the Insights before deciding on the appropriate disposition action for the alert. For example, you might close the alert, put it on hold, or perhaps escalate it for further investigation.

# **Alerts Monitoring**

Monitoring and reviewing activity status and details of user activity helps managers understand the activity associated with alerts, queues, and strategies. The Alerts Reports feature shows an overview of activities, as well as historical details. One of the benefits of this feature is its ability to provide information that helps organizations identify areas for improvement.

## **Workflow Process**

The workflow functionality within SAS Visual Investigator supplements its alert triage capabilities by allowing resulting cases to be created and managed. Having both functions handled within a single application reduces the cost and support burden that comes with running multiple applications.

A user task within a workflow is something that is assigned to either a group or a user within SAS Visual Investigator. If the task is assigned to a group, then members of that group will be able to claim it. Claiming tasks prevents multiple members of the group from working on the same task at the same time.

When adding a user task to a workflow, the designer can set the options that will be presented to the user performing the task. The user can then to mark the task as completed. For example, if the task is a review task, then the user might be presented with the following options:

- Accept
- Reject

#### Accessing Tasks

There are two ways that a user of SAS Visual Investigator can access his or her tasks. The first way is through the Home page. A Home page control enables users to quickly access the tasks that they have claimed (Figure 4.26).

Figure 4.26: My Tasks Section on Home Page

:	Object Label	Task :	Description	Due Date	<b>↑</b> :
-9	Investigate Gordon	Submit or Cancel In	Submitting the investigation w		
75	Investigate Gino Be	Submit or Cancel In	Submitting the investigation w		
-5	Investigate Dan Tam	Manager Approval	Please review the details of the		

The second way that users can see the tasks is through the new Tasks tab. The Tasks tab enables a user to see all the tasks that are assigned directly to him or her, or to a group to which the user belongs (Figure 4.27).

Figure 4.27: Task Listing within SAS Visual Investigator

Home														videmo
	Alerts	Tasks Search	🔐 Investigate Gino Bet. 🔹	🔐 Investigate Dan	Tam., ×									Q
\$3														5 Tasks
41 1	1	Object Label	Task	1	Participant	1	Claimed By	1	Date Claimed	I	Date Created	I	Due Date	42 1
	4	Investigate Rory Ma	Submit or Cancel Investigatio	n	Wisual Investigator Users						Feb 23, 2017 2:55:31 PM			-
		Investigate Gordon	Submit or Cancel Investigatio	n	Wisual Investigator Users						Feb 23, 2017 2:55:17 PM			
		Investigate Michael	Submit or Cancel Investigatio	n	Wisual Investigator Users						Feb 23, 2017 2:54:53 PM			
	4	Investigate Dan Tam	Submit or Cancel Investigatio	n	👹 Visual Investigator Users						Feb 23, 2017 2:49:52 PM			
	4	Investigate Gino Be	Submit or Cancel Investigatio	n	Wisual Investigator Users						Feb 23, 2017 2:48:56 PM			
Task D	Descri	iption		Investigation:	Investigate Dan T	****								
Submitt manage it.	ting the ar for th	e investigation will result in hem to approve. Cancelling	it being routed to your g the investigation will close	Summary: Investig Description: Dan 1 amounts of data fro	ate Dan Tresson found to be downloa on the corporate systems.	ding large								
Partici	pants	s												
4 Vis	sual Inv	vestigator Users												

### **Completing Workflow Tasks**

Opening an object that has an associated workflow task will now result in a new toolbar button appearing. This button shows the count of tasks that are currently outstanding on the object. If the user clicks the button, then a pane will slide in to show details of the tasks, as shown in Figure 4.28. From within this task pane, the user will be able to claim the tasks. Once the tasks have been claimed, the options for completing the task will be available.



SAS® Visual Investigator - Information Report	0
Home Alerts Tasks Management Search   🗈 Drugs 2018-03-05 ×	0
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0 Attachments 0 Comments 1 Tasks 0 Similar Reports
Image: Second secon	Attachments @ Comments @ Tasks @ Similar Reports  Tasks  Tasks  K  Ration Complete  Reporters  Claimed by: videmo Date claimed: 3/8/2018 12:08:04.354 Create a Risk Assessment by clicking the Filldown button available on the toolbar.  Assessment Complete Release Claim
3/5/2018 Information received:	
C Source details (ISR)	

# **Task View**

You can access the Task View in the workflow diagram by clicking the information button in the upper-right corner of the detail pane shown in Figure 4.28. This diagram makes it easier for users to understand where their task fits into the overall process and helps them understand what the next stage in the workflow is.

In this example, the Workflow Information Window in Figure 4.29 shows where the user's current task (highlighted with a bold border and arrow) fits in the overall workflow.





The History tab displays the history of a workflow in which you are currently participating. You can view which users completed which actions and when these users completed their actions.

# **Workflow Monitoring**

The Tasks Reports feature provides the ability for supervisors or managers to see an overview of completed and incomplete workflow tasks and review reports showing individual user activity. These reports show the times of peak activity for completion of workflow tasks and enable optimization of staffing.

Monitoring and reviewing workflow activity helps users follow the status of workflow tasks and usage activity in detail. This type of monitoring and review process helps identify areas for possible improvements and enables performance metrics to be reviewed in approximate real time.

# **Export to Microsoft Excel**

In this section, we will learn how to use SAS Visual Investigator to export data displayed within SAS Visual Investigator to Microsoft Excel files. Being able to export to Microsoft Excel files is a key requirement for analysts and investigators who need the ability to work with data in Microsoft Excel. This enables the data to be explored or shared outside of SAS Visual Investigator.

Exporting data to Microsoft Excel is standard on all grids, including the following:

- Alert triage grid
- Page builder grid controls
- Search results
- Table View
- Workspace Table View

To export the data to Microsoft Excel, click the Export to Excel icon, and then select Export to Excel, as shown in Figure 4.30.

Figure 4.30:	Export to	Excel C	<b>Option</b>
--------------	-----------	---------	---------------

SAS® Visual Investigator: Admir	nistration - Entity				0
Data Objects Relationships P	ages Workflows	Alerts Permissions	Properties Import Jobs	I Information Report ×	
Settings Fields Views Date	s and Locations Pages	and Toolbar Filter Fa	cets Authorization		
Name	† :	Date Created	1	Date Modified	: .
information_report		Mar 6, 2018		Mar 6, 2018	Export to Excel
information_report_ip		Mar 6, 2018		Mar 6, 2018	
Context Context	Page		Mode	Enable Toolbar	8:
Create	information_	report	Create	True	
Edit	information_	report	Edit	True	
Inspect	information_	report_ip	View	False	
Open	information_	report	View	True	
Summary				False	
Page Toolbar					

A Microsoft Excel file is created with a separate sheet for the data from each grid on the page, as shown in Figure 4.31.

Data Objecta Relations														8	
Data Objects Relations	ships	Pages Wo	orkflow	s Alerts Pern	issions	Properties	Impo	rt Jol	os I (	Inform	nation Re	port >	2		0
a   🚍	8			Exp	ort (24).xlsx [P	rotected View	] - Excel	Sco	tt Park	- 10					
Settings Fields View	File	Home I	Insert	Page Layout Form	ılas Data	Review	View	ACROBA		ell me			re		
	1 PR	ROTECTED VIEW	Be care	ful—files from the Interne	t can contain	viruses. Unles	you need	to edit, it's s	afer to stay	Enz	able Editing	,	<		
Name			Ingrou	ected view.											: 8:
information_report	A1	* 1	×	√ <i>f</i> ∗ Name									×		
information report in	1		_	0		-	_	D	E	F	G		<u>_</u>		
monitation_report_ip	Nam	ne		Date Created	Date N	lodified		-							
	2 info	rmation_repo	rt 2	2018-03-06T04:05:50.77	9Z 2018-0	3-06T04:08:1	2.558Z	-							
Page Contexts	4 Into	rmation_repo	rt_ip 2	2018-03-06104:05:50.76	52 2018-0	3-06104:08:0	1.3632	-							
	6														
	7														
Context	8												ar		8:
Create	9														
0.0010	10														
Edit	11														
Inspect	12														
	14														
Open	15														
Summary	16														
	17														
	18														
0	19												-		
rage loolbar	( )	Shee	et1				1								
12 民 亩 1 +	Ready	13	_					II (0)	巴	- 1	+	100%			
Action	<u> </u>		_		_	*Dis	ble Actio	on" Cond	tion	-			_		

Figure 4.31: Microsoft Excel File

Administrators can limit the number of rows that can be exported to Microsoft Excel.

SAS Visual Investigator can also export the data from multiple grids on a page template when your application administrator has enabled the button on the toolbar. This export produces a Microsoft Excel file containing multiple tabs, one for each grid exported. For example, if a Person object contains multiple grids, with each grid detailing a particular aspect of an individual's features, such as facial features or marks or scars, then a Microsoft Excel file is created containing a worksheet for each grid.

### **Structured Printing**

In this section, we will learn about user-access structured printing, a new feature that gives users the ability to print data in a structured form to comply with regulatory requirements. Paper forms often need to be re-created in the electronic world. For example, witness statements or the details of a subject profile investigation or case might need to be laid out in a certain way with the organization logo, headings, and fixed text.

Print templates enable users (with the appropriate permission) to print structured data from an object. Print templates are created and made available to users by the administrator on the basis of group memberships and access permissions. An example of a print template is shown in Figure 4.32.

	nvestigator - Information R	eport		2
Home A	Select Print Template		×	Reports
Main Repo	Information Report	Report Details Title: Drugs Report Report category: Drugs Event Data		
Informat Category: Drugs		Data Classification Classification: CONFIDENTIAL		
Report ow Lintel F Title: Drugs Re		Intelligence Grading Source Evaluation: Intelligence Assessment:		
Event date 3/5/2018 Informatic		Handling Code: Location Details Area:		
LE Sou		Splect	Cancel	

Figure 4.32: Print Template Example

Users who are presented with the print option can select a template on which to base the output and then, generally, select from a variety of output options. Users can do the following:

- Select a template that indicates the format of the desired output
- Export the selection as a PDF file
- Invoke a single operation to export to a PDF file and attach the current object

# **Audit Reports for Administrators**

It is important for organizations to capture information about the user activities being carried out in the system. This information helps organizations validate user activities. This information might be necessary as part of an internal investigation. This section contains new functionality and performance for administrators, as introduced in version 10.3.

# Audit Search Query Builder

SAS Visual Investigator now captures more detailed auditing information related to key user activities within the system. Audited actions include (but are not limited to) the following:

- Signing in and out
- Searching (including details of the query and results, if desired)
- Viewing or editing an object
- Deleting an object

• Performing administrative actions, such as changing a configuration

Go to the Audit Search Query Builder on the Management tab, and then choose Audit Reports to start a new audit report, as shown in Figure 4.33. In this example, we are searching for any sign-in or sign-out action.

									0
Home Alerts Tasks Manag	ement) Search								0
Alert Reports Task Reports Au	dit Reports								
Audit Search Query Builder									
Action	•		Sign in		•	+			
OR •						•			
Action	•		Sign out		•	+ 1	ī		
Search Clear									
Label	User ID :	Date Created	L 1	Action :	IP Address	:	Object ID	:	Object Type
Q Sign in	User ID :	Date Created Mar 9, 2018 8	↓ <b>:</b> 3:46:26 AM	Action :	IP Address	:	Object ID	:	Object Type
Label : © Sign in © Sign out	User ID : videmo intelmanager1	Date Created Mar 9, 2018 8 Mar 9, 2018 8	4 <b>:</b> 3:46:26 AM 3:46:22 AM	Action : Sign in Sign out	IP Address	1	Object ID	I	Object Type
Label : Q Sign in Q Sign out Q Sign in	User ID : videmo intelmanager1 intelmanager1	Date Created Mar 9, 2018 8 Mar 9, 2018 8 Mar 9, 2018 8	4 <b>:</b> 3:46:26 AM 3:46:22 AM 3:46:07 AM	Action : Sign in Sign out Sign in	IP Address	1	Object ID	1	Object Type
Label : Q Sign in Q Sign out Q Sign in Q Sign out	User ID : videmo intelmanager1 intelmanager1 intelsupervisor1	Date Created           Mar 9, 2018 8	4 E 3:46:26 AM 3:46:22 AM 3:46:07 AM 3:45:55 AM	Action : Sign in Sign out Sign in Sign out	IP Address	:	Object ID	1	Object Type
Label : Q Sign in Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign in	UserID : videmo intelmanager1 intelmanager1 intelsupervisor1 intelsupervisor1	Date Created           Mar 9, 2018 8	4 + : 3:46:26 AM 3:46:22 AM 3:46:07 AM 3:45:55 AM 3:45:27 AM	Action : Sign in Sign out Sign out Sign out Sign in	IP Address	I	Object ID	1	Object Type
Label : Q Sign in Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out	UserID : videmo intelmanager1 intelmanager1 intelsupervisor1 intelsupervisor1 tcg1	Date Created           Mar 9, 2018 8	+ : 3:46:26 AM 3:46:22 AM 3:46:07 AM 3:45:55 AM 3:45:57 AM 3:45:27 AM 3:45:04 AM	Action : Sign in Sign out Sign out Sign out Sign in Sign out	IP Address	1	Object ID	1	Object Type
Label : Q Sign in Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out	UserID : videmo intelmanager1 intelmanager1 intelsupervisor1 intelsupervisor1 tcg1 tcg1	Date Created           Mar 9, 2018 8		Action : Sign in Sign out Sign out Sign out Sign in Sign out Sign in	IP Address	1	Object ID	1	Object Type
Label : Q Sign in Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out Q Sign out	User ID     E       videmo     intelmanager1       intelmanager1     intelsupervisor1       intelsupervisor1     tcg1       tcg1     tcg1       investigationadmin1	Date Created           Mar 9, 2018 8           Mar 9, 2018 8	•         •         •           0:46:26 AM         •         •           0:46:27 AM         •         •           0:45:55 AM         •         •           0:45:27 AM         •         •           0:45:44 AM         •         •           0:44:48 AM         •         •	Action : Sign in Sign out Sign out Sign in Sign out Sign in Sign out	IP Address	:	Object ID		Object Type

Figure 4.33: Audit Search Query Builder

The information captured in an audit typically includes the following:

- User ID
- Date and time
- Action
- IP Address
- Object ID
- Object Type
- Additional information, as required, such as search query

Audit records are immutable and are created and managed by SAS Visual Investigator. The auditing level can be configured to ensure that the level of audit information captured is appropriate for a given customer.

#### Internal Entity Reference Number

SAS Visual Investigator enables internal entities to be configured to create a unique reference number that is human-readable and understandable by analysts and investigators. In the Unique Reference Number area in the Information Report settings, as shown in Figure 4.34, SAS Visual Investigator provides the ability for internal entities to be configured to enable a system-generated number (GUID, that is *globally unique identifier*) to be used. Alternatively, you could choose to create a Sequential-generated number or a Random-generated number to make the GUID more human-readable and understandable. This configurable format includes a numerical element and can include an administrator-defined string (that is, to represent the entity type) to include values from reference data in the entity.



SAS® Visual Investigator: Administration - Entity		9
Data Objects Relationships Pages Workflows Alerts Permissions Prop	erties Import Jobs   Information Report ×	0
Settings Fields Views Dates and Locations Pages and Toolbar Filter Facets	Authorization	
Identification         Name:         information_report         Label: *         Information Report         Description:         Entity type:         internal         Table name:         information_report         History enabled	Unique Reference Number © System generated number (GUID) © Sequential generated number Starting number: © Random generated number Length: 12 v Unique reference number: Generated Number: Length: 36 of 36	+
Indexed for search     Advanced Properties	Child Entities 【2	
	Label	
	No child entities have been configured.	

### **Data Object Import**

The Data Object Import feature provides a way for administrators to import a flat file or Microsoft Excel file into the product, or to connect to an external database to add entities (rather creating them manually). This feature now supports the ability to resume an incomplete import. An example of the use of this feature would be times that the import was interrupted by a session timeout or closing of the browser tab.

### Resources

This chapter is based on the "SAS Visual Investigator on SAS Viya" videos in <u>SAS® Viya® Enablement</u>, a free course available from SAS Education. Some portions of the text were also based on the paper "<u>Adding a</u> <u>Workflow to Your Analytics with SAS® Visual Investigator</u>" by Gordon Robinson and Ryan Schmiedl.

You might find the following documentation helpful as you learn more about programming in SAS Visual Analytics:

- SAS Visual Investigator Documentation
- Free tutorials and how-to videos
## For more information on this topic, check out the books below in the SAS<sup>®</sup> bookstore:





For 20% off these e-books, visit sas.com\books and use code WITHSAS20.





SAS and all other SAS Institute Inc. product or service names are registered trademarks or trademarks of SAS Institute Inc. in the USA and other countries. \* indicates USA regist Other brand and product names are trademarks of their respective companies. © 2019 SAS Institute Inc. All rights reserved. M1913158 US.0419